
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
CORPORATE SELECT COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 

a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Monday, 20 March 2023 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 

 

Virtual 

10 March 2023 

 
PART 1 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee  

 1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
2. Other Interests 

 

3. Any matters referred to the Committee under the call-in procedure  

4. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

5. Select Committee Work Programme (Pages 9 - 12) 

6. Annual Report (Pages 13 - 82) 

7. Corporate Peer Challenge - Updated Action Plan (Pages 83 - 86) 

8. Council Tax & Business Rates Relief, Reductions & Levy Policies (Pages 87 - 116) 

9. Annual Health and Safety Report (Pages 117 - 140) 

10. Any questions referred to the Executive Member (Member Services to be advised of 
any questions at least 4 days prior to the meeting)  

11. Exclusion of Press and Public  

 To resolve that the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business as there may be disclosure of 

exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 
 

PART II 

12. Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 141 - 142) 

 

Public Document Pack



 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 
 

 
MARK TRILLO 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of Corporate Select Committee 

Councillor T Ashton (Chair) Councillor E Siddall (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor J Collins Councillor O Cross 

Councillor L Grooby Councillor P Hardy 
Councillor E Kelly Councillor D Lomax 
Councillor R McKeown Councillor G Oakley 

Councillor M Stone Councillor E Thrane 
 



 

 
 

 
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

CORPORATE SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 

Meeting: Monday, 6 February 2023 at 6.30 pm in Virtual Meeting 

 
Present: Councillor T Ashton (Chair)   

 
 Councillors J Collins, O Cross, L Grooby, E Kelly, D Lomax, R McKeown, 

G Oakley, P Roberts (substitute for P Hardy) and E Thrane 
 

In Attendance: Councillor(s) A Barrow, D Greenhalgh, A McKeown and K Sizeland 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors E Siddall and P Hardy 

 
23/53 ANNOUNCEMENT 

 

It was announced that the meeting was being broadcast live to the internet 
via the Council’s website and was capable of repeated viewing. The images 

and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the Council. 
All were asked to keep to the speaking guidelines which were outlined.  Any 
views expressed by any speaker in the meeting are the speaker’s own and 

do not necessarily reflect the views of High Peak Borough Council. 
 

23/54 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 
THE COMMITTEE 

(Agenda Item 2) 
 

Councillor Thrane declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in the Empty 

Property Premium element of agenda item 7, “Budget and Medium Term 
Financial Plan 23/24 to 26/27” and withdrew from the meeting during the 
discussion and voting on that element of the report. 

 
23/55 ANY MATTERS REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE UNDER THE CALL-IN 

PROCEDURE 

(Agenda Item 3) 
 

None 
 

23/56 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2022 be approved as 
a correct record. 
 

23/57 SELECT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

(Agenda Item 5) 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Corporate Select Committee 
Monday, 6 February 2023 

 

2 
 

 

It was commented that further work was required around the Select 
Committee Work Programmes for the next 12 months. Outstanding items 

would be reviewed to ascertain what can be submitted during the next cycle. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That, subject to the above comments, the Select Committee Work 

Programmes be noted. 
 

23/58 THIRD QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2022/23 

(Agenda Item 6) 
 

The Committee considered a detailed report that provided information of the 

Council’s overall performance and financial position for the period ended 31 
December (“Third Quarter 2022/23”).  The Executive Councillor also 
provided members with a summary of the overall position. 

 
Regarding the key performance indicators and benchmarking, members 

were advised that the full list of measures was set out within the report and 
that performance was benchmarked against other authorities to compare 
outturns and targets were stretch targets to ensure that the Council strives 

towards continually improved performance.  Full information would be 
provided within the Annual Report. 
 

In response to a query around the Capital Receipts for land, and the 
suggestion that members have sight of detailed information, members were 

advised that there had been some barriers to disposal this year, including 
nutrient neutrality, which, until a solution is found to mitigate the effects, had 
led to some delays in disposals.  The MTFP reflects the expectation that a 

solution would be forthcoming, and it was anticipated that a report would be 
submitted to a future meeting of Economy & Growth Select Committee. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the Third Quarter 2022/23 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at paragraph 

3.3 of the covering report, be noted. 
 

23/59 2023/24 BUDGET & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2023/24 TO 

2026/27 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 

The Committee considered the proposed Budget for 2023/24, updated 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27, Capital Strategy 2023/24, 

proposed Fees and Charges for 2023/24 and Procurement Forward Plan 
2023/24.   

 
The Executive Councillor presented a detailed summary of the information 
contained within the reports and the Executive Director (Finance and 

Customer Services) also presented a short summary of the paper which set 
out the key changes pre and post settlement, the reserves position, the HRA Page 4



Corporate Select Committee 
Monday, 6 February 2023 

 

3 
 

and reserves position and key decisions around car parking charges, 
council tax, rents and related income and the 4 year efficiency programme.  
Regarding reserves, it was noted that it was proposed to retain the match 

funding allocated for the LUF bid, in anticipation of making a bid during the 
3rd round. 

 
Regarding car parking charges, the view was expressed that there are some 
areas within the borough that charges could be increased and that this 

should be considered for future years. 
 

Regarding the level of reserves within the HRA, members were advised 
that, due to the capital works and property refreshment programme and to 
meet the Decent Homes Standard, these are areas that are being 

particularly affected by inflation so there is a need to have funds for 
contingencies.  The minimum reserve level could be reviewed to provide 

more of a buffer. 
 
Regarding rents and other non-rent charges, benchmarking had been 

undertaken with other authorities and similar authorities had put up charges 
by between 5% and 7%, with London putting them up significantly more 
after holding a referendum.  The Leader commented that ideally, rents 

would not have been put up at all, but following detailed advice, a 5% 
increase was proposed to balance the long-term impact on the HRA.  

Consideration would also be given throughout the year to the voluntary 
payments to reduce debt.  Reference was also made to the effect of inflation 
and supply chain issues on the HRA. 

 
(Councillor Thrane left the meeting) 

 
The Executive Councillor explained the proposals around empty homes and 
the empty property premiums, which were supported by members.  

 
(Councillor Thrane returned to the meeting) 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the following recommendations to the Executive be noted: 
 

 That the General Fund Budget for 2023/24 as detailed in 
Appendix A (section 9) be approved. 

 

 That the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2023/24 to 
2026/27) as detailed in Appendix A, including the revised 

Capital Programme (attached at Annex A) be approved. 
 

 That the Capital Strategy 2023/24 as set out in Appendix B be 
approved. 

 

 That the proposed Fees and Charges for 2023/24 as detailed 
in Appendix C be approved. 

 Page 5



Corporate Select Committee 
Monday, 6 February 2023 

 

4 
 

 That the proposed Procurement Forward Plan for 2023/24, 
providing the Authority to procure based on procurement 
activity detailed in Appendix D be approved. 

 

 That a Band D Council Tax of £211.36 for 2023/24 (an 

increase of £5.96 or 2.90% from 2022/23) be approved. 
 

 That the adoption of the Council Tax premium on second 

homes outlined s7.1.7 and the empty property premium for 
properties that have remained empty for 1 year s7.1.10. be 

approved. 
 

 HRA charges as follows: 
o All dwellings rents to increase by 5%, increasing the 

average rent from £73.96 to £77.78 per week (average 

rent takes into account new tenancies let over the 
previous year where the higher formula rent was 

charged. This gives an arithmetical increase of 5.16%) 
o Garage rents to be increased by 5% from £7.86 to 

£8.26 average per week 

o Other Charges including service charges to increase by 
a maximum of 5% 

o Fuel charges at individual blocks have been reviewed 
and the 2023/24 charge is based on the 2022/23 
estimated costs and 2021/22 actual fuel usage/prices, 

charged on an individual scheme basis. 
 

 That the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of reserves 
are adequate for the Council, based on this budget and the 
circumstances in place at the time of preparing it (Appendix A 

Annex C) be noted. 
 

 
 

23/60 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT FUND 2023-24 

(Agenda Item 8) 
 

The Committee considered a report which set out the details surrounding 
the Council Tax Support Fund Scheme 2023 – 24 announced by the 
Government in December 2022. 

 
It was commented that sufficient funding should be retained to enable 

support to be given to those who become eligible throughout the financial 
year, which officers had confidence would be achievable. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the Executive be recommended to approve the award of up to £25.00 
to reduce council tax bills for vulnerable households on Local Council Tax 
Support (LCTS) s7.1 and to direct the remaining funding during 2023 -24 in 

line with the proposal at s8.1. 
 Page 6



Corporate Select Committee 
Monday, 6 February 2023 

 

5 
 

23/61 COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2023/24 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 

The Committee considered a report which provided an update on the 
proposed revised Council Tax Reduction Scheme with effect from 1 Apri l 

2023, following approval by the Executive to implement a banding scheme. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the Executive be recommended to recommend that Council approve 

the amendments in section 7.15 (m), section 7.14 and the introduction of a 
new income banded / grid scheme for working age applicants with effect 
from 1 April 2023 to reduce the administrative burden placed on the Council 

by the introduction of Universal Credit and to increase the overall level of 
support for the lowest income families. 

 
23/62 ANY QUESTIONS REFERRED TO THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER (MEMBER 

SERVICES TO BE ADVISED OF ANY QUESTIONS AT LEAST 4 DAYS 

PRIOR TO THE MEETING) 

(Agenda Item 10) 
 

None 
 

23/63 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

(Agenda Item 11) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business as they contact exempt 
information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 

Act 1972 
 

23/64 EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 12) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2022 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

23/65 SPRINGS SHOPPING CENTRE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT 

(Agenda Item 13) 
 

The Committee considered the Council’s strategy to managing the Springs 
Shopping Centre as well as the Key Performance Indicators that will be 

used to manage its financial performance. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 8.20 pm 
 

 
 Page 7



Corporate Select Committee 
Monday, 6 February 2023 

 

6 
 

 
 
CHAIR 

 

 

Page 8



CORPORATE 

Chairman: Councillor Ashton 

Vice Chairman: Councillor Siddall 
Councillor Lead Officer: Martin Owen 

Date Items Contact Officer 
Purpose/Method of 

Consideration 

20-Mar-23 Annual Report T Cooper  

Council Tax & Business Rates Relief, Reductions and 
Levies Policy 

J Wheeldon  

Corporate Peer Challenge – Action Plan T Cooper  

Health and Safety Annual Report D Owen  

Work Programme   

   

To add in Fleet Procurement Strategy R Wilks  

Corporate Peer Challenge T Cooper  

Trust Arrangements – Town Hall / Victoria Hall D Smith (May/June) 

Generating Income Plan K Pointon  

Parish Grants K Pointon  

Asset Management Strategy and Plan   

Plan for New Operating Model for Market / Town Hall 

complex 

N Rodgers  

Refreshed Communications Strategy  T Cooper  

Review of Recovery Processes J Wheeldon  

Implement the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan T Cooper  

 

 
 

 
 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 5



COMMUNITY 

Chairman: Councillor Quinn 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Sizeland 

Lead Officer: M Trillo 

Date Items Contact Officer Purpose/Method of 

Consideration 

    

8-Mar-23 High Peak CVS Annual Report High Peak CVS  

   

To add in Environmental Agency – Flooding and Enforcement   

New Waste and Recycling Approach  R Wilks  

Arts and Cultural Strategy D Smith  

Update from Health around ICS   

Car Parking   

   

P
age 10



ECONOMY AND GROWTH  

Chairman: Councillor Siddall 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Grooby 

Lead Officer: Neil Rodgers 

Date Items Contact Officer 
Purpose/Method of 

Consideration 

16-Mar-23 Crescent Heritage Trust  Stephen Owen / 
Jennifer Spencer 

To be preceded by Tour of 
the Experience 

Whaley Bridge Neighbourhood Plan - Regulation 15 
submission 

Holly Jones  

Nutrient Neutrality Progress Report Holly Jones  

   

To add in Visit Peak District / Marketing Peak District – Presentation   

A57 Link Road Project Local Impact Report   

Whaley Bridge Neighbourhood Plan   

Update on Parking   

Disposal of Land at Bowden Lane/A6 Chapel-en-le-Frith   

HIF Funding Agreement   

Chapel Masterplan   

Dinting Employment Site   

The Crescent Hotel Update  Jonathan Dawson  

Buxton Neighbourhood Plan   

Housing Delivery at Waterswallows and Fairfield 
roundabout update  

J Brooks  

 

 
 
 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Corporate Select Committee 
 

20 March 2023 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Annual Report 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Alan Barrow - Executive 
Councillor for Corporate Services and 
Finance 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Tanya Cooper - Head of Organisational 

Development and Transformation 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
Non-Specific 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A - Annual Report 2021/22 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to present the Council’s Annual Report for 
2021/22.  This is a core document which compares High Peak’s performance 
and costs with councils in the East Midlands resion and nationally. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee notes the findings of the benchmarking 
exercises. 

 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The Annual Report establishes the context for the Council in planning its 

performance delivery.  This includes both the financial backdrop against which 

the Council must deliver its services, the risk profile and also the local place 
context of the area and how it compares against a range of socio-democratic 

measures. 
 

3.2 The report looks back over the Council’s achievements in 2021/22 and uses 

national bench marking data (2020/21) to assess value for money. 
 

3.3 The analysis is built around the Corporate Plan priorities. 
 
 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



  

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The Annual Report is built around the priorities contained within the Corporate 
Plan and therefore links to all four main aims and supporting objectives. 

 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 This report is for information with no decision required of the Committee. 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
None 

 
 

6.2 Workforce 

None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
None 
 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

None 

 
 

6.5 Legal 
None 
 

 
6.6 Climate Change 

None 
 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
None 

 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

The report outlines the above tolerances principal strategic risks 
 

 
ANDREW P STOKES 

Chief Executive 
 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Information Team files  

Benchmarking platforms 

Tanya Cooper 

Head of Organisational Development and 
Transformation 
tanya.cooper@highpeak.gov.uk 

Page 14



  

 

 
7. Introduction 

 

7.1 The purpose of an Annual Report is to look back and take stock of the 
progress and achievements made against the Council’s stated obectives and 

to use this intelligence to understand what still need to be done and what new 
challenges lie ahead.  The Annual Report does this by: 

 

 Presenting a place profile for the High Peak, such as health factors, 

deprivation levels, economic indicators and access to housing 

 Looking at the Council’s performance against its targets 

 Analysing performance and costs against national and regional 

comparisons 

 Presenting the principal risks facing the Council; and 

 Outlining the financial challenges facing the authority over the course of 
its Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 
 
8. Place Profile 

 

8.1 The highlights from the place profile are as follows: 

 

 Over 30% of the area is classed as rural 

 Aging population, 65+ projected to become the largest resident group 

by 2023 

 Average levels of unqualified residents with below average residents 

being educated to degree level and above 

 Health outcomes – below average for female life expectancy 

 Employment – higher that average unemployment rate 

 Crime – sits in the lowest 40% of areas for recorded crime 

 
 
9. Performance / Benchmarking 

 

9.1 Benchmarking shows that High Peak is a low cost Council; at £96.99 per 

head, net expenditure is very low when compared to all district councils in 
England. 

 

9.2 Headline findings from the Local Government Association Corporate Peer 
Challenge identified that the Council ‘ Delivers high-quality, low cost services that 

are value for money and have been well managed over a number of years ’ 
highlighted our ‘Strengths in governance and financial management and in 

investing in staff and elected members’ and recognised the Council as being ’ At 

the forefront of creative thinking with a clear focus on efficiency and resilience’. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 17



Contents Page 

Chapter 1: Profile of the Borough – Life in High Peak: contextual information on housing provision, 

employment and skills, health issues and levels of crime 

Chapter 2: Financial Context - The financial challenges facing local government and how the Council is 

addressing them 

Chapter 3: Equality and Diversity 

Chapter 4: Our Vision - The key priorities for the Council for 2019 to 2023 

Chapter 5: Managing our Strategic Risks – The principal threats and opportunities facing the Council 

Chapter 6: Demonstrating Value for Money - Progress against our corporate priorities and how we perform 

compared to other councils  

Chapter 7: Our Priorities 2022-2023 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Aim 1 Analysis of comparative performance and costs 

Appendix B: Aim 2 Analysis of comparative performance and costs 

Appendix C: Aim 3 Analysis of comparative performance and costs 

Appendix D: Aim 4 Analysis of comparative performance and costs 

P
age 18



Chapter 1: Profile of the Borough 

The Borough of High Peak covers an area of 53,915 hectares, of which 30% is classed 

as rural, and serves a usual resident population of 90,900 (2021 census data) . The 

population size has changed very little since 2011, this is the opposite of the regional 

trend for the East Midlands where the population increased by 7.7%. There were 

42,973 domestic households on the Council Tax valuation list at the end of March 

2022.    

Who lives in the High Peak? 

• 50.9% of residents are female

• The population continues to age; since 2011 High Peak has seen a 27%

increase in those aged 65 and over to 21.9% (2021 census data)

• Only 2.13% of the local population is non-white, compared to 2.55% in

Derbyshire and 14.58% nationally. Mixed or multiple ethnic groups make up

the second largest proportion of the High Peak population at 1.04% (2011

census data)

• Single person households make up the largest group in the borough, followed

by couples with dependent children (2011 census data)

• 35.65% of the population are educated to degree level or higher (lower than

the Derbyshire average) (2021-12)  and 7.36% have no qualifications, which is higher than the Derbyshire average of 5.27% (2019-12) 

What is it like to live in the High Peak? 

Health - Average life expectancy is 79.95 years for males and 83.14 years for females, which sits respectively in the middle 20% and lower 40% 

nationally. Compared to the East Midlands region, the health indicators below are lower than the comparative average for the 2017-2019 period:  

• Infant mortality rates

• Adult obesity

• Adult smoking prevalence

• Cancer mortality rate in the over 75’s per 100,000 population

P
age 19



Housing - High Peak had a housing affordability ratio of 7.74 (this ratio compares house prices to annual earnings, the lower the ratio the more 

affordable the housing), this sits in the lowest 40% compared to the rest of England (ONS 2021) . In March 2022 the average house price in High 
Peak was £246,893 an increase of  10.8% from £ 222,833 in March 2021. In England (Mar 2022) the average property value was £275,838 (UK 
house price index) 

• 72.05% of households in High Peak are owner occupied, which is higher than the Derbyshire and national average (2011 census)

• 12.7% of households live in social rented accommodation putting the area in the lowest 40% of areas nationally (2011 census)

Crime – Figures show that High Peak recorded 59.07 crimes per 1,000 residents in 2021 which places it 5th in Derbyshire. Chesterfield recorded the 

highest rate at 81.24 and Derbyshire Dales the lowest at 42.07. Nationally High Peak sits amongst the lowest 40% of areas for recorded crime. 

Deprivation - High Peak is ranked in the bottom half of districts nationally for its overall deprivation score but has pockets of higher than average 

deprivation scores for health and disability and living environment.  

Employment – High Peak’s working age population stands at 61.58% (2020) which is amongst the top 40% of councils nationally and represents the 

employment base within the borough. 82.35% of High Peak’s resident working age population are in employment (Mar 2022), which is higher than the 

Derbyshire average of 76.33%. Our unemployment rate of 6.28% ( 2021-12) is higher than both the Derbyshire (3.06%) and England (4.6) rates.  

• Average earnings of High Peak residents are estimated as £23,284 (median 2021) which sits below the Derbyshire median of £24,164.

The following pages provide further and supporting analysis from Grant Thornton’s Place Analytics Tool on some key contextual data that helps the 

Council understand the issues facing our local population and to plan services accordingly.  

P
age 20



Age: Change over time 

The chart below shows the absolute change in age profile from 1991 to 2020. Age 25-44 age profile has decreased by 4,970, the 45-64 profile has 
increased by 8,850: 

P
age 21



 

Age : Population Projections 
 
How is the age profile of the High Peak expected to change in the future? The projections shown in the chart below are important as they help identify 
the potential effects of social and economic growth in the area: 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 22



Crime:  
 
The tables below show the number and type of victim based crime and other crimes against society per 1,000 population in the High Peak in 2021. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 23



Labour Market: 
 
This line chart shows the how the employment rate has changed over time in the High Peak compared to Derbyshire and England. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 24



Skills and Qualifications:  

This bar chart shows the proportion of residents against the level of skills qualifications relative to Derbyshire and England in December 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 25



Chapter 2: Our Financial Context 

The Borough has faced significant financial challenges over recent years because of austerity measures, alongside cost pressures within services and 

greater volatility in financing streams.  The shift in local authority financing has increased the focus on locally generated income streams – such as 

Council Tax and Business Rates and core Central Government funding has reduced substantially.  This increases the control and influence the Council 

has over locally generated income but makes it more vulnerable to fluctuations within the local economy, increasing financial risk. The negative 

impact of the on-going Coronavirus Pandemic on the world economy has been further worsened by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine.  The latter has 

caused a severe spike in global commodity prices. The UK and local economy is not immune to the resulting inflationary pressures. The table below 

compares council spend per capita against all district councils and illustrates that High Peak has very low spend nationally at £96.99 per head.  

High Peak 2020/21 (£000's) Unit Unit Cost (£) Unit Cost Score 

TOTAL SERVICE 
EXPENDITURE (RO) / 
Population 

8,985 926,333 96.99 Very Low 

TOTAL HIGHWAYS & 
TRANSPORT SERVICES 
(RO Bal) / Population 
(low last year)  

-238 92,633 -2.57 Very Low 

TOTAL HOUSING 
SERVICES (GFRA ONLY) 
(RO Bal) / Population 

1072 92,633 11.57 Low 

TOTAL CULTURAL & 
RELATED SERVICES (RO 
Bal) / Population 
(low last year)  

2,235 92,633 24.13 Average 

TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL 
& REGULATORY 
SERVICES (RO Bal) / 
Population 

3,211 92,633 34.66 Low 

TOTAL PLANNING & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
(RO Bal) / Population 
(low last year)  

1,510 92,633 16.3 Average 

TOTAL CENTRAL 
SERVICES (RO Bal) / 
Population 

1,167 92,633 12.6 Very Low 

 

P
age 26



Changes to Account Reporting Deadlines  

The Department of Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has put in place revised regulations to 

extend statutory deadlines for 2021/22. This year the Council’s draft accounts (which must be confirmed 

by the responsible finance officer [RFO]) are required to be published by 31st July and to be audited by 

30th November 2022.   

Future challenges and opportunities 

The lingering impact of coronavirus pandemic on inflationary pressures has been compounded by the Ukraine conflict.  The narrative below sets 

out some of the more significant recent developments which have or may have a potential impact on the financial position of the Authority.   

Changes to Local Government Finance 

The below paragraphs detail any changes or proposed changes to Local Government financing which have had or may have a significant impact on 

the Council’s future financial position:  

Business Rates - As part of the current Business Rates Retention system, authorities are currently able to retain a 50% proportion of any growth in 

Business Rates over and above a centrally established baseline. The Retention system is being reviewed by Government along with the Fair Funding 

Review but has been subject to various delays. Therefore, no financial assumptions of a new system have been included with the Council’s financial 

plans thus far.  

Council Tax - The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, but any increase above a threshold set by Government is subject to a local 

referendum. In 2022-23, the threshold was 3% the Council set a tax increase of 2.99%.      

New Homes Bonus - This is a financial reward scheme awarded to Authorities who demonstrate an increase in housing provision on an annual basis. 

The Council will receive £675,210 in 2022/23. Going forwards the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) assumes that the Council will receive funding 

at a reducing level of £300,000 in 2023/24 and £25,000 per annum in the following years pending the outcome of the current consultation.  

Other Government Funding - The December 2021 spending review announcement confirmed the following Government support to the Authority in 

2022/23 a Lower Tier Services Grant of £100,830 

 

 

P
age 27



Inflation Pressures  

The negative impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, meant that there was a unprecedented pressure on European energy markets, at this stage it is 

impossible to predict the impact on the Authority’s finances and financial planning due the resulting volatility. Inflationary pressures across all 

services, including partner organisations, will be monitored throughout the coming years.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 28



Chapter 3: Equality and Diversity 

 
Over the last 12 months the Council has been driving the Equalities and Diversity agenda forward within the authority. In April 2022 new 
Equality objectives were reviewed and approved by the Council.  The objectives were evaluated against the latest version of the Local 
Government Association’s Equality Framework.  The framework sets out four modules for improvement, underpinned by a range of criteria 
and practical guidance that can help a council plan, implement and deliver real equality outcomes for employees and the community.  The four 
modules are: 
 

• Understanding and Working with your Communities 

• Leadership and Organisational Commitment 

• Responsive Services and Customer Care 

• Diverse and Engaged Workforce 
 
We are proud of our Disability Confidence Standard status since signing up to the scheme 
which supports the Council in its objectives as an employer for both current and future 
employees to challenge attitudes towards disability, provide an increased understanding, 
remove potential barriers to disabled people and those with long-term health conditions and 
ensure that disabled people have the opportunities to fulfil their potential and realise their 
aspirations. 
 
The introduction of a new Agile working policy following Covid has provided employees with flexible working arrangements including mobile 
and home working which compliments the existing flexible working policy. The policy supports the diversity of our current and future 
workforce needs. 
 
Analysis of our current workforce against the area population shows that it is broadly representative of the population. The Council employs 
more females (14% more) in comparison to the population and in terms of ethnicity our workforce is predominately White British at 76.3% in 
comparison to the population at 95.6%. 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 29



Chapter 4: Our Vision 
High Peak’s 4-year Corporate Plan was adopted in October 2019 following cross-party member priority setting workshops in the 

summer. It sets out the Council’s Vision for 2019 to 2023 – ‘Working together to protect and invest in the High Peak with the 

Council on your side’ – and is underpinned by four aims:  

Aim One: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak 

Our key objectives are: 

▪ An effective relationship with strategic partners 
▪ Fit for purpose housing stock that meets the need of tenants and residents 
▪ Practical support of community safety arrangements 
▪ Provision of high quality leisure facilities 
▪ Working with others to address health inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness 

▪ Effective provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health 

To meet these objectives, we will… 

❖ Review the Council’s community support arrangements in order to maintain strong partnership working with community groups 

❖ Implement the accelerated housing delivery programme 

❖ Develop and implement an ongoing leisure facilities plan focused on improving the health and wellbeing of residents 

❖ Review the Sports & Physical Activity Strategy in order to integrate communities and sports clubs into the delivery of its objectives 

❖ Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed recommendations 

❖ Review the Community Safety Strategy to ensure that the Council is supportive in fighting crime and anti-social behaviour  

❖ Implement the Homelessness Strategy effectively to ensure that voluntary groups and social enterprises that work to tackle the issue are 

supported effectively 

❖ Review the delivery of services to older persons to ensure that they are effective 

❖ Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve conditions for private renters 

Working with and supporting our partners we will seek to influence positive outcomes around… 

✓ Maintaining the provision of accessible health and social care 

✓ Dealing with anti-social behaviour 

P
age 30



Aim Two: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council 

Our key objectives are: 

▪ Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable whilst offering value for money 

▪ Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided “right first 

time” 

▪ Invest in our staff to ensure we have the internal expertise to deliver our plans by supporting our high performing and well-

motivated workforce 

▪ More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities 

▪ Effective procurement with a focus on local businesses 

▪ Use innovation, technology and partnership with others to help improve the efficiency of services, improve customer satisfaction 

and reduce our impact on the environment 

 

To meet these objectives, we will… 

❖ Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a review of the public estate, and ensure adequate facilities 

management arrangements are in place 

❖ Develop an Access to Services Strategy to ensure that services are accessible to all 

❖ Refresh the council’s Communications Strategy in order to ensure there is a more effective dialogue and engagement with residents 

❖ Conduct a review of democratic processes and scrutiny arrangements to make the council as open and transparent as possible 

❖ Implement the council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 

❖ Provide advice and support for residents affected by the rollout of Universal Credit 

❖ Continue to embed good information management practices through the ASSURED framework 

❖ Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income 

❖ Develop a new ICT Strategy to enhance and support the delivery of services 

❖ Review the council’s Diversity Policies and celebrate the traditions and diversity of our community 

❖ Develop a new OD Strategy to ensure effective workforce development and use of apprenticeships  

❖ Develop a new Procurement Strategy with a focus on spending money locally 

❖ Implement the agreed Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 

 

P
age 31



Aim Three: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration 
 
Our key objectives are:  

 
 

▪ Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises 

▪ Work to create flourishing town centres and thriving high streets that support the local economy 

▪ Promote tourism to maximise local benefit 

▪ High quality development and building control with an “open for business” approach 

▪ Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors 

▪ Working to support existing local businesses, both large and small across the High Peak as they respond to future challenges   

▪ Supporting the development of innovative green jobs and business across the High Peak 

 

To meet these objectives, we will… 

❖ Review the implementation of the Local Plan to ensure that the requirements for affordable housing and developer contributions are 
being met 

❖ Support the development of Glossop Halls 
❖ Implement the accelerated business growth and employment programme 
❖ Develop a Cultural Strategy to support and celebrate the rich history and culture of the Borough 
❖ Review the Council’s Growth Strategy to ensure that it is focused on the effective regeneration of our towns and rural communities  
❖ Establish a developer open space contributions plan 

 
Working with and supporting our partners we will seek to influence positive outcomes around… 

✓ Working with the private sector on regeneration schemes including: The Crescent and Torr Vale Mill 

✓ The One Public Estate programme across the Borough 

✓ Pressing for more regular and faster rail links, public transport links and essential road infrastructure 

✓ Completion of the off road route for the Trans Pennine Trail and access to the Monsal and Tissington Trails 

✓ Bringing additional funding into the Borough 

✓ Enabling high speed internet across the Borough 

✓ Extending the Greater Manchester rail offer 

 

P
age 32



Aim Four: To protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency 

 
Our key objectives are:  
 

▪ Effective recycling and waste management 
▪ Effective provision of quality parks and open spaces 
▪ Meeting the challenge of climate change and working with residents and business across the High Peak to implement the climate 

change action plan 
 
 

To meet these objectives, we will… 

❖ Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to AES in order to achieve improved performance and value for money outcomes 
❖ Develop a Parks Development Plan to support the widest community use of parks and support community / friends groups 
❖ Develop a Climate Change Strategy and an action plan of response to a declared climate emergency 
❖ Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy in order to take steps to further reduce dog fouling and littering 
❖ Review the Council’s waste and recycling arrangements to increase recycling and to respond to the emerging new national strategy 

 
 

Working with and supporting our partners we will seek to influence positive outcomes around… 

✓ The development of more cycle routes whilst working with the County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst road users 

✓ Encouraging local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon footprint  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33



Chapter 5: Managing our Strategic Risks 

The Council’s Risk Management Strategy sets out the roles and responsibilities of officers and councillors in ensuring that the council 

undertakes a deliberate and systematic identification of the key risks that might prevent, degrade, delay or enhance the achievement of its 

strategic objectives. Within the Strategy, the Council’s ‘risk tolerance’ threshold has been set along the border between ‘medium’ and ‘high’ 

rated residual risks, marked with a bold line in the heat map below; with mitigating actions required for all risks that exceed this threshold. 

    

Actions being taken to address our top risks: 

➢ Delivery of the MTFP – monthly Transformation Board meetings to oversee key projects linked to the efficiency and rationalisation 

strategy; 2 updates of the MTFP (Oct/Nov & Feb); review future savings potential in context of revised Efficiency Plan 

➢ World events – treasury management strategy; multi agency emergency planning and business continuity; local resilience forums 

➢ Cyber risk and IT security –health check undertaken by external specialists; action plan for new IT strategy; regular training & comms 

➢ Employees – agile working policy implemented; wellbeing hub established , mental health first aiders trained and operational 

➢ Environmental Regulations – air quality plan; climate change action plan; TEEP assessments; Taxi Policy & Street Trading review 

➢ Social Housing- working group established and action plan developed; new H & S KPI’s; tenant engagement activities via TPAS  

➢ Contract Management – updated procurement strategy including new toolkit; annual financial health checks; contractor checks and 

regular liaison meetings; monitor key strategic suppliers 

➢ Investment in assets – new database completed; energy audits & stock condition surveys complete; asset management plan review 

➢ Safeguarding – risks overseen by corporate group; regular training for all employees; policy reviewed annually via members 

1 2 3 4 5

5

4

. MTFP

. World Events

3

. IT Security

. Employees

. Env Regs

. Social Housing

. Contract Mgmt

. Investment into 

Assets

2

. Safeguarding

1

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

Impact
The Council’s Strategic, Operational and Project Risk Registers 

are reviewed on a quarterly basis and reported into the 

Corporate Risk Management Group and the Audit and 

Regulatory Committee on an exception basis. 

P
age 34



Gaining an external perspective on emerging risk areas  

The council adds to the robustness of its risk management arrangements by regularly seeking an external opinion on specific areas of new or 

emerging risk. In the last 12 months work has been commissioned to provide a tree safety and liability review to evaluate the current injury 

and liability risk management arrangements in relation to the management of trees.  Due to take place during 2022/23. 

Progress on areas identified in previous years: 

Project Risk Management – the recommendations around version control have been adopted and we will be implementing project risk 

management training for relevant staff.  

Cyber Health Check – the recommendations around the critical aspects of Cyber Certification, Privileged Access Management and End of Life 

Systems are either complete or in progress. The actions continue to be monitored through Information Governance Group.  

Opportunities  

Not all risks are negative and the council’s approach to risk 

management is mature enough to consider opportunities as well as 

threats.  The heat map adjacent shows the three top rated 

opportunities facing the council in 2022 and a summary of the 

actions being taken to help bring these benefits to 

fruition.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

✓ Contractor relations: more emphasis on commissioner role; 

effective contractor partnerships; focus on contract management 

within the new procurement strategy 

 

✓ Housing growth: empty homes strategy; accelerated housing 

delivery; working with Homes England to access funding; disposal of 

remaining Council owned sites 

 

✓ Business Growth: accelerated business growth and employment programme; working with Local Economic Partnership to access 

funding; new business support schemes  

P
age 35



2021/22 Targets

Target Met

Off Track

Not Available
42%

46%

12%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

2021/22 Trends

Chapter 6: Demonstrating value for money - our performance and how we compare 

Summary 

At the close of 2021/22 the Council had achieved 68% of its key performance indicator targets for the year (+1% improvement on the previous 

year) and had maintained or improved performance in 54% of these measures (-7% lower than last year, the ongoing effect on performance 

from the pandemic continues to impact).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

The service areas which fell short of target include the use of temporary accommodation, FOI response times, average re-let time for housing 

voids, % rent loss due to vacant stock,  planning enforcement, use of contracts register and procurement activity on forward plan, volunteer 

hours .  

The effect of the Covid 19 has continued to have an impact on some service areas and we have taken that into account when setting the 

targets for 2021/22, although this now only relates to a relatively small proportion of indicators.     

For those measures that fell below the target set for the year we have developed actions for improvement, where feasible, as part of our 

performance reporting to senior managers and members. As well as comparing performance over time and against target, we also compare our 

performance with other Councils nationally. 

P
age 36



Aim 1: A safer, healthier and cleaner environment 

Delivering on our high-quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health 
targets: 

 
✓ Street cleanliness 
✓ Regulatory inspections of private water supplies  
✓ High risk premises inspections 
✓ Permitted processes inspections  
✓ Food premises that are broadly compliant with Food Standards Agency standards  
✓ Pest control contracts obtained 
✓ Community clean-up campaigns (235 compared to 130 last year) 

 
 
Fly-tipping incidents have reduced from 609  (27th out of 36 councils in the East Midlands region) to 406 in 2021-22. However this remains an 
area of concern because of the environmental impact and the drain on resources. Last year  we launched a joint comms campaign with our 
AES partners in in response, as well as reviewing our enforcement policy. The Council’s spend on public conveniences increased to £312,000 
and is now the 3rd highest in the regional comparator group. Food hygiene in establishments across the Borough continue to look healthy with 
only 12 premises achieving 0-2 stars and over 700 premises achieving 3 stars or above: 590 achieved level 5. The FSA recovery road map 
(which outlines the baseline plan to get inspections back on track following the pandemic) has been exceeded in every aspect and at every 
milestone documented. 
 
Contextual Measures: 

❖ High Peak issued no fixed penalty notices for antisocial behaviour in 2021/22 

❖ 406 fly-tipping incidents were collected by the council, an improvement on 609 for the 

previous year. This follows a nationwide reduction in the number of fly tipping incidents 

compared to 2020/21. 

 

Achievements 

✓ Investigated 289 reports of abandoned vehicles and disposed of 5 abandoned vehicles  

✓ Issued 7 fixed penalty notices for fly-tipping 

✓ Issued 232 written warnings and dealt with 83 food hygiene complaint 

✓ Inspected 87 new businesses for food hygiene 

P
age 37



✓ Dealt with 1171 pollution related complaints (Alliance) 

✓ Carried out 119 Ukraine support and Housing Inspections 

✓ Investigated 104 Health and Safety concerns 

✓ Undertook 140 water samples and risk assessments (Alliance) 

 

Delivering on our housing targets: 
✓ Benefits processing times for new claims 

- Benefits processing times for changes of circumstance 

✓ Benefits processed correctly 

✓ Housing repairs performance 

- Households in temporary accommodation for over 6 weeks 

✓ Right to buy transactions completed in time 

✓ Homelessness applications at the prevent and relief duty stages 

- % prevention and relief duty discharges 

✓ 13% of housing register applicants in priority need have been waiting in excess of 6 months 

✓ Gas safety checks undertaken – 100% compliance for the 7th year in a row 

 

High Peak’s performance in determining new Housing Benefit claims has improved slightly to 10.9 days in 2021-22 compared to 11 days in 

2020-21. The cost of processing benefits in 2020-21 has however also increased from £437k to £674k and with it our ranking has increased 

from 21st  highest in the region to 13th highest. The correlation charts in Appendix A detail those councils in the region who were achieving 

better performance levels at a lower or comparable cost in 2020-21. Change of Circumstance processing for 2021-22 was 6.3 days, an increase 

from 5 days in 2020-21. In 2019-20 High Peak were the slowest in the region at 9 days.  

 

The creation of a joint venture company with Norse Commercial Services Ltd was 

approved and the transfer of the housing repairs service, maintenance and facilities 

management functions and project management of the capital programmes 

commenced in July 2022 (Phase 2) . Phase 1 involved the transfer of the cleaning and 

caretaking services into the new company from April 2022. 

 

 

 

P
age 38



Contextual Measures:  

 

❖ 157 affordable homes were completed, up from 45 last year 

❖ 387 new dwelling completions were made in 2021/22 

❖ 152 homes stood empty for more than two years, up from 120 last year 

❖ 95.2% of overpaid benefit payments were recovered (down from 98.3%  the previous year) 

❖ It took an average of 112 days to complete disabled adaptations in council owned stock (up from 97 days last year) and an average of 

14 weeks in non-council stock (up from 12 weeks last year) 

❖ At the end of March there were 32 households in temporary accommodation including 1 family 

❖ 119 complaints were received in relation to private sector accommodation, with 28 category 1 hazard properties and 61 category 2 

hazard properties, (up from 2 and 5 last year)  no improvement notices were issued 

❖ 265 new kitchens and bathrooms were delivered as part of the housing capital programme and 83% of council homes met the Decent 

Homes standard 

 
Achievements 

✓ Secured grant funding from the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme for the delivery of 4 self- contained supported 

accommodation for rough sleepers 

✓ Identified larger properties with fewer family members to explore downsizing options to make best use of the properties 

✓ Gained approval to offer a grant of £1,394,000 from RTB receipts towards the development of 17 affordable rented units at Buxton 

Road, Chinley (subject to satisfactory DDA) 

✓ Work has commenced to construct  the roundabout along the A6 at Fairfield to unlock access to housing sites 

✓ Completed 73 affordable homes at Granby Road A 

✓ 2625 windows/doors have been fitted to council housing stock; 35 homes have been re-roofed;  104 properties have new cladding and 

23 received new render 

✓ 100% Compliance with gas regulations was maintained throughout all the lockdowns 

✓ Mobilisation of Norse- Phase 1 to transfer the delivery of the cleaning and caretaking functions to the new company 

 

 

 

P
age 39



Delivering on partnership working and community safety targets: 
- Delivery of the Community Safety Partnership Plan (implementation continues to be affected by lockdown) 

✓ Carelink emergency response calls  

- Carelink % referrals installed within 15 days (delays caused due to clients shielding) 

 

Total recorded crime in 2020-21 was 5474 incidents, minimal change compared to 5488 in the previous year , however the rank in the East 

Midlands has changed from 24th lowest to 18th lowest. The council’s spend on CCTV has decreased to £93,000  and is now ranked 13th highest 

spend compared to 11th in 2019-20. The correlation charts in Appendix A detail those councils in the region who have lower recorded crime 

levels at a lower or comparable cost in 2020-21. 
 

Contextual Measures:  

 

❖ 6424 recorded crimes across the borough to March 2022 and 2698 anti-social behaviour reports 

❖ 13.5% of households in the borough are fuel poor (2020 BEIS data), up from 13.1% 

❖ Local foodbanks gave out 1,526 food parcels to 1,911 people in Buxton and dealt with 2,018 referrals in Glossopdale   

 

Achievements 

✓ Led on the upgrade of the Councils public realm CCTV system 

✓ Introduced new Community Safety Strategies and delivered Community Safety Action 

Plans 

✓ Worked with ROFA and G52 to support community activities 

✓ Linked with High Peak CVS, Connex, The Bureau and New Mills Volunteer Centre to 

support the response to the pandemic and other activity 

✓ Carelink Service responded to 890 falls and 4,719 emergency responses , visits in total 

totalled 15,892 

✓ Continued to support the foodbanks and pantries across High Peak 

 

Delivering on our leisure targets: 
- Level of external funding awarded to support the physical activity and sport strategy (£55k against a target of £60k) 

✓ Number of priority areas where place-based work to reduce inactivity is being undertaken 
 

P
age 40



2020/21 benchmarking shows that the council spent £911,000 on sports and recreational facilities, an increase on the previous year but still 

within the middle 20% of councils nationally. 67.1%  (51,700) of High Peak residents take part in 150+ minutes of exercise per week, a slight 

decrease from 71.1% last year. 

 

Contextual Measures:  

 

❖ 20.9% of the local population (16,100) are ‘inactive’, compared to 21.3% last year (Active Lives Survey – Nov 2021) 

❖ 15.4% of the local population (11,800) volunteer in sports clubs, a decrease of almost 10% (Active Lives Survey – Nov 2021) 

 

Achievements 

✓ Developed a successful bid for funding from British Cycling to develop a new pump track facility in Bankswood Park 

✓ Created the Walking Movement project to get more people outdoors and walking as a way to improve physical and mental health 

outcomes 

✓ Expanded the exercise by referral scheme to include Buxton Swimming Pool and Gym and Glossop Leisure Centre 

✓ Developed a play and outdoor sports facilities investment plan which will see up to £390k invested in facilities over the next 4 years 

 

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council  

 

Delivering on our value for money targets: 
✓ Council tax and business rates collection 

✓ Invoices paid on time 

✓ Sundry debt reduction 

✓ General Fund income & expenditure variance  

✓ HRA income & expenditure budget variance 

✓ Rent collection 

✓ Efficiency savings met  

✓ Internal audit recommendations implemented on time 

 

 

P
age 41



Contextual Measures:  

❖ Income generated equates to 77% of the net budget (2021/22) 

❖ £22.5m  was levered in external funding (2021/22) 

 

2020/21 benchmarking reveals that High Peak has the 9th highest Council Tax collection rate in the region at 97.84%, down 2 places on the 

previous year following a  dip in our rates from 98.41%.  Nationally, High Peak ranks 43rd highest, a minimal change from 44th place last year. 

The cost of collection has increased to £234k and is now the 3rd lowest in the region. Business Rates collection decreased slightly in 2020/21 

but now ranks amongst the top 40% of councils nationally at 98.12% and is 8th  highest in the region.  

 

In January 2022 we commenced our first Local Government Association ‘Corporate Peer Challenge’ , a week long voluntary process to aid 

improvement and learning. This was held as a virtual event involving six Peers drawn from local government providing challenge and to share 

learning to aid future improvement. The Peers met with councillors, staff , trade unions, neighbouring council leaders, local media and a vast 

range of key strategic partners. Headline findings were that we  ‘ Deliver high-quality , low cost services that are value for money and have 

been well managed over a number of years’  highlighted our ‘Strengths in governance and financial management and in investing in staff and 

elected members’  praised us for being ’ At the forefront of creative thinking with a clear focus on efficiency and resilience’. An action plan has 

been created from the recommendations for further development and will be implemented throughout 2022-23. 

 

Achievements 

✓ Over £4.8m discretionary grants distributed in the High Peak to support our local businesses who have been affected by Covid  

✓ Achieved unqualified audit opinion on the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts following another year of disruption and remote audit. 

✓ Successfully Produced a balanced Medium Term Financial Plan and 2022/23 budget  

✓ Exceeded the rent collection target for current and former tenant arrears despite the ban on repossession actions and evictions. 

Alternative methods of rent recovery included independent intervention, in -depth advice and wider multi -agency working 

✓ Managed the preparations for the virtual Corporate Peer Challenge  

 

Delivering on our customer access and right first time targets: 
✓ Complaints responded to within timescale 

✓ Social media followers 

✓ Assisted contacts (phone/ face to face and web) 

✓ Number of Onevu customers 

✓ Repeat complaints 

P
age 42



- FOI requests dealt with on time 

- Avoidable contact  

✓ Sitemorse index compliance rating 

 

The limited benchmarking material on complaints levels indicates that the number of ombudsman complaints remains within the lowest 20% 

nationally at just 5 complaints in 2020/21  

 

Contextual Measures:  

❖ 989 Twitter feeds were retweeted          

❖ 6% of FOI requests were diverted to the Council’s website / publication scheme 

❖ The cost of handling FOI requests was estimated at £51,269 

❖ 139 complaints were received during 2021/22: up from 98 

 

Achievements 

✓ 45,405 One Vu accounts now active as customers can report changes, raise requests, submit information and track requests through 

their accounts 

✓ Continued monitoring of the website for accessibility and compliance with transparency requirements 

✓ Increase in online forms made available for customers to self-serve 

✓ Developed Access to Service Strategy, engaging with service areas and external partners 

✓ Implemented Civica Pay for payment at front line 

 

Delivering on our workforce targets: 
- Sickness absence per FTE 

✓ Workplace accidents 

- Reportable/lost time accidents 

 

Sickness absence (Alliance) has increased following the initial reduction in 2020/21. Covid cases were included in the calculation from February 

2022 which has contributed towards the increase in sickness rate. The council’s agile working policy is now in place and the 2022/23 target has 

been amended as we re-adjust to the new ways of working  and the changes in staff structure due to the Norse transfer. Staff appraisals have 

been delayed but will re-commence, to be led from the top.         

 

P
age 43



Contextual Measures:  

❖ We received 72 compliments in 2021-22, down from 174 

❖ There are 4 apprentices across the Alliance, of which 3 are working on the higher level scheme 

❖ 100% of the apprenticeship levy was spent by the Alliance 

❖ Staff turnover increased to 13.4% from 10.6% (Alliance) 

 

Achievements 

✓ Delivered external training for Climate Change and a Senior Leadership Programme 

✓ Developed a suite of Covid 19 risk assessments 

✓ Developed guidance and training on working safely from home, fire safety, ergonomic guidance, stress awareness and wellbeing, 

returning to the workplace, working in other properties 

✓ Reviewed DSE risk assessments along with 1-2-1 discussions and home visits to ensure compliance 

✓ Recruited 4 senior managers, promoted 4 staff and seconded 11 staff (Alliance) 

✓ 1 post entry training agreements in place 

✓ Implemented the Agile Working Policy 

 

Delivering on our effective use of assets targets:   
✓ Council-owned business units that are occupied 

- Rent loss from vacant stock 

✓ Properties with nil void loss 

- Average time to re-let Council homes  

267 properties were re-let in 2021-22 of which 82 were major voids, a number of the 

properties required extensive works after being left in a poor condition. Void times were 

affected by delays with contractors  and Covid restrictions whereby the property had to be 

left empty for a specified period of time 

Contextual Measures:  

❖ It took an average of 43.5 days to re-let homes (excluding ‘hard to let’ homes), up from 

28.6 days the year before  

❖ 339,242 litres of oil fuelled our main office buildings and 197,285 Kwh of electricity, costing £44,042  

 

P
age 44



 

Achievements 

✓ Continued with the programme of internal challenge of information asset registers via the Information 
 Governance Group  to protect our data assets  using the ASSURED framework. 

✓ Undertook stock condition surveys of building fabric, mechanical and electrical 

 

Delivering on our procurement targets:   
✓ On-contract spend 

- Procurement activity 

52% (Alliance) of procurement activity on the forward plan compared to 62% in 2020-21. There have  

been a higher proportion of exemption applications due to increasing reactive workstreams over the last year.  

 

Contextual Measures:  

❖ 15% of contracts over £5,000 were awarded to local businesses following submitted expressions  

of interest, down from 32 % last year 

❖ 8.8% of council supplier spend stays within the local area 

   

Achievements-  

✓ Local businesses spend over £2,517,620   

✓ Completed 131 Procurement exercises delivering the Council’s Procurement forward plan (Alliance) 

✓ Supported Welcome back programme of funding for local High Streets  

✓ Delivered strategic procurement exercises including renewal of IT Managed Services Contract, securing main contractor for A6 Hogshaw 

Roundabout development, Glossop Halls project. 

Delivering on our technology targets: 
✓ IT network and system availability  

 

P
age 45



Achievements 

✓ Supported home working and conducted a Return to Office IT review 

✓ Completed the server migrations 

✓ Worked with Customer Services, Finance and NEC to implement CivicaPay replacing PARIS for the processing of all incoming payments 

✓ Worked with Socitm to deliver the Digital Maturity , IT and Digital Strategy review 

✓ Led the Collective project to implement a brand new bin operation system replacing Flare 

✓ Led the Alliance Norse project , the joint venture to deliver Repairs and Maintenance, Capital Projects and Facilities Management to 

corporate, commercial and housing property assets. 

 

Aim 3: To support economic development and regeneration 

 

Delivering on our business support and start-ups objective: 
Our business formation rate has decreased from 10.58% to 7.75% in 2020 and places us 35th out of 36 councils in the East Midlands with 

Derbyshire Dales ranked last at 7.4%.  
 

Contextual Measures:  

❖ 3940 enterprises are operating within the High Peak; 100 less than last year  

❖ 20,386.7 m2 of floorspace completed (use classes B1/B2/B8) 

❖ 1842 hits on the business page of our website 

 

Achievements 

✓ Prepared and distributed Christmas Gift Guides, Local Food Guides and the Goyt Valley 

Guide to help promote local businesses as they recover from lockdown 

✓ Supported a number of business events including the New Mills Festival, Glossop Winter Lights and Castleton Family Fun Day 

✓ Distributed the business E-newsletter to 1338 subscribers each month 

✓ Distributed over £4.8 m discretionary grants to businesses affected by Covid  

 

P
age 46



Delivering on our flourishing town centres targets: 

The borough had an average town centre vacancy rate of 9.2% (2021). This is compared to the national and regional (East Midlands) average of 11.8% and 

11.6% respectively. Recent and ongoing investment in economic growth via the Heritage Action Zone and Future High Streets project in Buxton and Glossop 

Halls project seek to create the best environment for our town centres to thrive.  

Achievements 

✓ Additional funding of £50,000 has been secured form Historic England to develop public realm design proposals for improvements along 

Spring Gardens in Buxton 

✓ Received funding from the Governments Future High Street Fund to work with partners on proposals to transform the Spring Gardens 

area  

✓ The Buxton High Street Heritage Action Zone continues to support the repair and reinstatementof historic shop fronts and the 

restoration of vacant heritage buildings 

✓ Partial lifting of the Covid restrictions in May 2021 enabled the opening of Buxton Crescent Hotel and Spa 

 

 

Delivering on our promoting tourism targets: 
Visitors to the High Peak added £146m of spend to the local economy according to the 

latest research reports for 2020 (down from £274m) and local business benefited from 

over 660,000 overnight stays (down from 1.52m); tourist bed spaces fell from 8011 to 

7576. The Council’s recorded spend on tourism (2020-21)  places it in the middle 20% of 

councils nationally at £20k, down from £53k.   

 

Achievements 

✓ A new tourism strategy is being prepared with an aim to boost visitor numbers and 

spend in the area 

✓ A new logo and branding toolkit have been developed for Buxton 

✓ Tourism Marketing package commissioned and delivered for the central area of High Peak that includes Whaley Bridge, Furness Vale, 

New Mills and Chapel-en-le Frith to support local businesses following the Toddbrook Reservoir Incident 

 

P
age 47



Delivering on our high quality development and building control targets:  
✓ Planning appeals successfully defended 

- % of planning enforcement cases resolved within 13 weeks  

✓ Major, minor and other planning applications determined in time – 100% of majors determined on time 

- Planning applications with pre-app enquiries 

✓ 100% of priority planning enforcement cases visited within 1 working day 

- Agent satisfaction with the planning service 

 

Benchmarking data across the East Midlands region shows that High Peak performs above the mean for the processing of major and minor 

planning applications. The costs of development control has increased from £201,000 to £370,000 in 2020/21, placing the council in the lowest 

40% of councils nationally and 16th in the region.   

 

Contextual Measures:  

❖ No costs were awarded against the Council last year for planning appeals 

❖ 274customers attended the new Planning Surgeries  

Achievements 

✓ Adopted Water in Buxton Supplementary planning documents 

✓ Completed successful transfer of building control to Derbyshire Building Control Partnership 

 

Delivering on our car parking targets: 
Contextual Measures:  

❖ 1730 PCNs were issued in 2021/22 of which 92% were collected 

❖ 56.4% of car park spaces are covered by the Park Mark scheme and over 6% of all  

spaces are allocated as disabled parking bays 

Achievements 

✓ Launched Pay by Phone in HPBC car parks 

✓ Procured new Civil Enforcement Officer contract as part of Derbyshire Parking Board 

✓ Resurfaced Glossop Municipal Buildings and Winster Mews 

P
age 48



Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment 

Delivering on our effective recycling and waste management targets: 
 

- % of household waste recycled (estimate) 
✓ Kg of residual household waste (estimate) 
- Missed Bins 

 
 

High Peak’s recycling rate of 50.8% in 2020/21 remains the 4th highest in the region and the residual kg of household waste improves to the 4th 
lowest level across the East Midlands. However, the cost of recycling is 3rd  highest in the region at £1.4m, whilst waste collection costs are 
amongst the lowest 20% of councils nationally at £776k 
  
Achievements 

✓ Implemented a new bin operation system ‘Collective’ allowing residents to see real time updates greatly reducing the need for customer 

contact  

 

 
Delivering on our quality parks and open spaces targets: 
 

- Volunteer hours  
✓ Green Flag award maintained 

 
Volunteer activity was slow at the start of 2021-22, engagement increased following the 
relaxation of Covid restrictions to 415 hours, up from 236 hours in 2020-21.  Council 
spend on parks and open spaces increased from £592,000, to £614,00 in 2020-21 but 
remains in the lowest 40% of districts nationally   
Achievements 

✓ Developed a new place based engagement work role in New Mills in partnership 

with New Mills Volunteer centre 

P
age 49



Delivering on our climate change targets: 
 

✓ Paper consumption 

✓ Air quality reporting requirements  

 

Contextual Measures:  

❖ Emissions per capita are estimated at 28.8  tonnes  (2020 BEIS) and are the highest in the East Midlands due to Quarrying industry 

emissions  

Achievements 

✓ Introduced the High Peak Climate Change Strategy 

✓ Appointed a new Climate Change and Biodiversity Officer  

✓ Completed energy audits across General Fund properties 

The Council approved the 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) in July 

2021 which focussed on reducing our own emissions and we are now 

implementing the second phase: Publish Part 2 of the Climate Change 

Action plan and commence delivery of the priorities contained within Part 

1 and 2.  Part 2 is concerned with how the Council intends to help the 

whole Borough achieve net zero emissions and was published in 

November 2021.  Both Part 1 and Part 2 are ‘dynamic’ documents that will 

be amended as more data/ assessments and opportunities arise. 

Work done to date includes: 

✓ Staff have undertaken Carbon Literacy Training together with Train 

the Trainers for Community Champions . Gained Bronze Level 

certification in Carbon Literacy,  Silver accreditation on track for 

December 2022 

✓ Work is ongoing around the energy efficiency of the housing stock 

and we have commenced retrofitting some of our council homes  

P
age 50



✓ The Council held its first Climate Change Summit which brought together a number of interested groups to highlight local issues and 

share ideas 

✓ The new agile working policy has been implemented and it is expected the trends established by the new ways of working will be 

sustained:  reduction in business mileage; increased customer self-service and reduced paper consumption.  

✓ Developed an action plan to reach the 2030 net zero target 

✓ The Climate Change working group continues to meet to discuss and agree actions in respect of a number of key themes including 

biodiversity, transport and travel, planning, waste and energy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 51



 

Chapter 7: Our Future Priorities 2022-2023 

2019/20 saw the development and adoption of a new Corporate Plan by the Council for the period up to 2023. Actions yet to be fully 

implemented have been rolled forward into 2022/23.    

Corporate Plan Aim Rolled forward Priority Actions New Priority 
Actions 

Aim 1: Practical support of 
community safety 
arrangements  

Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed recommendations  

Aim 1: Provision of high 
quality leisure facilities both 
in formal leisure centres and 
swimming pools and out in 
our communities 

Review the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy in order to integrate communities and 
sports clubs into the delivery of its objectives 

 

Develop and implement an ongoing (HP) leisure facilities improvement plan focused on 
improving the health and well-being of residents   

Aim 1: Fit for purpose 
housing that meets the needs 
of tenants and residents 

Implement the accelerated housing delivery programme  

Together with partners we will seek to influence the following outcomes: 
➢ Maintaining the provision of accessible health and social care 

 

Aim 2: Services readily 
available and provided right 
first time 

Provide advice and support for residents affected by the rollout of Universal Credit   
Conduct a review of democratic processes and scrutiny arrangements to make the 
Council as open and transparent as possible 

Refresh the council's Communication Strategy in order to ensure there is a more 
effective dialogue and engagement with residents  

Develop an Access to Services Strategy to ensure that Council services are accessible to 
all 
 

Aim 2: Ensure our future 
financial resilience can be 
financially sustainable whilst 
offering value for money  

Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income   
Implement the agreed Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 

 
Implement the Council's Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 

 

P
age 52



Corporate Plan Aim Rolled forward Priority Actions New Priority 
Actions 

Aim 2: More effective use of 
council assets to benefit our 
communities 

Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a review of public estate, 
and ensure adequate facilities management arrangements are in place   

 

Aim 2: Invest in our staff to 
ensure we have the internal 
expertise to deliver our plans 
by supporting our high 
performing and well-
motivated workforce  

Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy to ensure effective workforce 
development and use of apprenticeships  

 

 

Aim 2: Use innovation, 
technology and partnership 
with others to help improve 
the efficiency of services, 
improve customer 
satisfaction and reduce our 
impact on the environment 

Develop a new ICT strategy to enhance and support the delivery of services 

 
 

Play an active role within Vision Derbyshire, helping to secure a County Deal with 
increased freedoms and improved collaboration 

 

Aim 3: Work to create 
flourishing town centres and 
thriving high streets that 
support the local economy 

Support the development of Glossop Halls   

Review the Council's Growth strategy to ensure that it is focused on the effective 
regeneration of our towns and rural communities  

Aim 3: Encourage business 
start-ups and enterprise 

Implement the accelerated business growth and employment programme   

Aim 3: High Quality 
Development and Building 
Control with an 'open for 
business' approach 

Establish a developer open space contributions plan  

Review the implementation of the Local Plan to ensure that the requirements for 
affordable housing and developer contributions are being met 
 

Aim 3: Promote tourism to 
maximise local benefit 
 

Develop a Cultural Strategy to support and celebrate the rich history and culture of the 
Borough  

 

 

Together with partners we will seek to influence the following outcomes: 
➢ Work with the private sector on regeneration schemes including Torr Vale Mill  
➢ Ensure the best use of public assets across the borough through the One Public Estate project 
➢ Pressing for more regular and faster rail links, public transport links and essential road infrastructure 
 

P
age 53



Corporate Plan Aim Rolled forward Priority Actions New Priority 
Actions 

➢ Work with regional partners to extend the Greater Manchester rail offer 
➢ Completion of the off road route for the Trans Pennine Trail and access to the Monsal and Tissington trails 
➢ Bringing additional funding into the Borough 
➢ Enabling high speed internet across the Borough 

Aim 4: Meeting the 
challenges of climate change 
and responding to the 
Climate Emergency 
declaration SM: Meeting the 
challenges of climate change 

Publish Part 2 of the Climate Change Action Plan and commence delivery of the priorities 
contained within Parts 1 and 2 

 

Aim 4: Effective recycling and 
waste management 
 

Review the Council's waste and recycling arrangements to increase recycling and to 
respond to the emerging new national strategy 
 

 

Together with partners we will seek to influence the following outcomes: 
➢ Develop more cycle routes whilst working with the County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst road users 
➢ Encourage local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon footprint 

 

References 

The benchmarking data used within this Report has been drawn from the following sources: 

1. Grant Thornton’s Place Analytics online tool 

2. Grant Thornton’s CFO Insights online tool 

3. The LGA’s benchmarking tool – LG Inform 

Photos: Derby and Derbyshire Economic Partnership and Derbyshire County Council, High Peak Borough Council and Visit Peak District and 

Derbyshire. 

 

 

P
age 54



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

 

 

P
age 55



 
Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak  
                      
Fit for purpose housing that meets the needs of tenants and residents  
 
The following chart shows the correlation between Housing Benefit costs and New Claims average speed of processing against 
the East Midlands Non- Metropolitan group 2020-21, using Grant Thornton’s CFO Insight tool.  In 2020-21 costs have increased 
and processing times have decreased. Housing Benefit Administration RO has increased from £437k to £674k. Average speed 
of processing has decreased from 18 to 11 days. Melton, Boston and Derbyshire Dales are examples of authorities processing 
claims faster at a lower cost.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56



 
This chart shows the correlation between Housing Benefit costs and Change in Circumstances average speed of processing 
against the group.  High Peak costs have increased but processing times have decreased from 9 to 5 days.  Melton, Gedling and 
Rushcliffe are examples of authorities processing changes faster and at a lower cost.  
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 57



22

14

6

12

5

7

12 12

16

19

29

27

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

 
This time series shows the change in the number of households in temporary accommodation in High Peak since 2009. Overall, 
there has been an increase of 23% between 2009 and 2021 (2009: 22 households,  2021: 27 households).  
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 58



 
Practical Support of Community Safety Arrangements 
 
The chart below shows the cost of CCTV compared to the total recorded crime (excluding fraud) (percentile) for the High Peak 
against the East Midlands group in 2020-21. Costs have decreased compared to 2019-20 at £93,000 (13th highest out of 24 
councils with spend), the total number of crimes (2021) at 5,474 is 18th lowest out of a group of 31.  Bolsover, Derbyshire Dales 
and North Kesteven, spend less on CCTV and have fewer crimes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 59



 
Provision of high-quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure centres and swimming pools and 
out in our communities 
 
This map shows that High Peak’s spend on sports and recreation facilities (including golf) (RO) £000’s falls within the mid 

quintile of districts nationally (ranked 75th out of 180 areas) with a spend of £911,000. In 2019-20, High Peak also sat in the 

mid quintile with a spend of £449,000. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 60



 
This bar chart shows the proportion of the population in High Peak who participate in 150+ minutes of exercise per week 
(Active Lives Survey Nov 20-21, Sport England) compared to other districts within Derbyshire. High Peak have 67.1% of its 
residents participating in 150+ minutes of exercise per week, compared to 71.1% in Nov 19-20. The Derbyshire average is  
62.7 %.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 61



 
 

Effective provision of high- quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health 
 
The table shows the number of fly tipping incidents in 2020-21 compared to the 10 nearest neighbours from the East Midlands 
Group. Compared to the whole East Midlands group, High Peak were ranked 27th lowest (out of 36) with 609 incidents, this is 
an increase compared to 2019-20 when they were ranked 29th lowest with 302 incidents. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 62



 
 

This chart shows the cost (in £ 000’s) of Public Conveniences (RO) compared to the 10 nearest neighbours from the East Midlands 
group in 2020-21. High Peak had the 3rd highest spend in the whole group at £312,000, an increase compared to £291,000 in 2019-
20.   

 

P
age 63



A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council 

Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable whilst offering value for 

money 
The map below shows that High Peak has an above average rate of Council Tax collection at 97.84%, sitting within the top 40% 

of all English districts. The collection rate has decreased from 98.41% in 2019-20.  The cost of council tax collection is low 

compared to the group, ranked 159th out of 180 areas at £234,000, an increase from £180,000 in 2019-20. 

 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 64



This map shows the Non- Domestic Tax Collection rate across all English districts. The High Peak collection rate of 98.12% 

sits within the top 20%. This is a slight decrease from 98.39% in 2019-20. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 65



Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and 

provided ‘right first time’  

This map shows the total number of Ombudsman complaints received by all English districts in 2020-21. The High Peak 

score of 5 is lower than the 7 received in 2019-20, and sits within the lowest 20% of all districts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 66



Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development  

and regeneration  
Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises 

This time series demonstrates changes in business formation rate from 2010-2020. The rate of new business as a 

proportion of total business stock increased steadily from 2010 then fell from 2016. 2019 showed an increase to 10.58% 

before falling to 7.75% in 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 67



This bar chart shows the High Peak new business formation rate % for 2020 compared to other authorities in the area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 68



Promote tourism to maximise local benefit 

This map shows the total spend on tourism across all English districts. High Peak sits in the middle quintile of districts 

nationally, spending £20,000 on tourism, a decrease compared to £52,000 in 2019-20. 

 

 

 

P
age 69



High quality development and building control with an ‘open for business’ approach 

This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and % major development planning 

applications determined within time (inc PPA, EOT & EIA’s) compared with the East Midlands Non-Metropolitan Group. In 

2020-21, High Peak processed 94% of major applications within target times compared to 95% in 2019-20, ranking has 

dropped from 11th to 15th . Development control costs have increased from £201k to £370k. Boston , Ashfield and 

Broxtowe are examples of areas that have processed more applications to target but at a lower spend.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 70



This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and % minor development planning 

applications determined within time (inc PPA, EOT & EIA’s) compared with the East Midlands Non-Metropolitan Group. In 

2020-21, High Peak processed 94% of minor applications within target times compared to 91% in 2019-20, ranking has 

improved from 17th to 8th. South Derbyshire, Amber Valley, West Lindsay and Bolsover for example have processed more 

applications to target at a lower spend. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 71



 

This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and % other development planning applications 

determined within time (inc PPA, EOT & EIA’s) compared with the East Midlands Non-Metropolitan Group. In 2020-21, 

High Peak processed 96% of other applications within target times compared to 93% in 2019-20, ranking has increased 

from 21st to 8th .   South Derbyshire, Amber Valley, Broxtowe, West Lindsay and Bolsover have processed more 

applications to target at a lower spend. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 72



The map below shows the spend on development control (RO, 2020-21) across all English districts. High Peak spent 

£370,000 on development control, which places it in the lowest 40% of all districts nationally, no change compared  to 

2019-20 when the spend was £201,000. 

 

 

   

P
age 73



 
 

Protect and Improve the Environment including responding to the climate 

emergency 

Effective recycling and waste management 

This line chart shows the proportion of household waste that is sent for reuse, recycling or composting from 2009-2021. 

Within High Peak, the recycling rate has increased to 50.8% which sits in the top 40% nationally. In 2019-20 the result was 

50.5%.  Recycling rates in the top quintile range from 53.52% to 64.2% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 74



 
 

This chart shows residual waste per household in kilograms (2020-21) for High Peak compared to other authorities in the 

area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 75



 
 

This map shows the unit spend on Waste Collection (R/O, £/dwelling in 2020-21), across all English districts. High Peak has 

a low unit spend at £18.37, an increase from £8.78 but still falling into the lowest 20% nationally.  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 76



 
 

This scatter chart shows the correlation between the cost of recycling and the % of household waste sent for reuse 

recycling or composting.  South Northamptonshire has a higher recycling rate at a lower cost. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 77



 
 

This scatter chart shows the correlation between the cost of waste collection and the kg of residual waste per household.  

There are no areas within the East Midlands producing less residual waste at a lower cost. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 78



 
 

Effective provision of quality parks and open spaces 

This map shows open spaces spend in 2020-21 across all English districts. High Peak are ranked 120th out of 180 areas at 

£614,000, which sits in the lowest 40% of all districts nationally. Ranked 127 in 2019-20, spend has increased from £592,000.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 79



 
 

Meeting the challenges of climate change and working with residents and businesses across the High 

Peak to implement the climate change action plan. 

This map shows the Environmental Initiatives RO in 2020-21 across all English districts. This value refers to net current 

expenditure for environmental education, grants related to environmental initiatives and individual environmental projects. High 

Peak are ranked 50th out of 180 areas with £40,000 and sit in the top 50% : no change compared to 2019-20. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 80



 
 

This map shows CO2 emissions estimates-total per capita (2020) for All Local Authority Districts in the East Midlands and is 

produced using LG Inform tools. The High Peak score was 28.8 CO2 emissions per capita  (31.9 2019) which is the highest score in 

the group. The lowest was Lincoln at 2.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Peer Challenge Joint Action Plan

Recommendation 1: Partnership development of aspirational visions for each place with a clearer focus on outcomes 
Linked non-key recommendations: 
a) develop approaches and systems that provide for a more sophisticated and detailed understanding across and within the geographies in order to inform policy and service design 
b) extension of partnerships review to consider sub-regional and regional engagement

Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead Response 

1.       ‘High Peak Together’ brings together all community-based 
partners and meets on a quarterly basis. There will be a focus 
on mental health issues at the September meeting

1. Ongoing

We are reviewing this process following establishment of 
the Integrated Care System. This brings about 

opportunities and challenges (Glossopdale was 
previously part of the Tameside CCG). Going forward, it is 

likely that the business of the "High Peak Together" 
forum will be taken on by the High Peak Place Alliance.

4. 	  Carry out a desktop review of place-related data across the 
Alliance, talk to the County Observatories around lower tier 
profiles and conduct annual reviews of this information to 
inform policy and service design

4. Complete Review complete. A desk top mapping exercise of place 
related data was completed in  August 2022.

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.       Conduct a mapping exercise of sub regional and regional 
bodies for purposes of engagement around shared priorities

1.June 2023
Head of 

Communities and 
Climate Change

The mapping exercise will be conducted after the 
elections 

2.       Carry out training for members on partnership working / 
influencing skills as relevant   

2. June/July 2023
Head of 

Democratic 
Services 

Communities and Climate Change are assisting with 
delivering the  training and we have contacted the LGA 
for potential suppliers. We are considering utilising on-
line training  : the  LGA also have online workbooks and 
training systems and Councillors have been made aware 

of these resources. 
An Induction programme will be held for this years 

Councillors, and we will make partnership working part 
and parcel of the induction training by way of a seminar 

to be included in the programme 

Recommendation 2: Undertake regular residents’ and staff surveys 
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

A planned annual Staff Survey was put on hold due to 
significant change programmes but is now ready to commence.

1.   Develop a survey based on the drivers of employee 
engagement – training opportunities, performance objectives, 
wellbeing, management, PEPs

1. Dec 2023 Development of the survey is being progressed , we are 
planning to issue this before the end of the year

2.       The use of standard questions will enable the Councils to 
track trends over time using an annual survey

2. Dec 2023 The use of standard questions will be included in the 
survey development

3.       ALT approval
3.Dec 2023

The draft survey will be presented to ALT  as part of the 
approval process

4.    New survey approved and ready to launch 4. Dec 2023 The new survey will be launched following the approval 
process

A planned biennial Place Survey which informs the corporate 
plan setting process will now be implemented.

1.   	Agree a tender specification for a programme of biennial 
place surveys

1. Q1 2023-24

 We are planning to  issue  a resident survey every two 
years, with there being a more in depth survey initially 
followed by a smaller survey the second year. in 2023, 

we will be looking at the priorities of the Corporate Plan 
and will include questions suggested by the LGA. We will 
also incorporate surveys from other Service Areas  at the 

time and what their needs are for the year ahead. i.e. 
climate change, housing, car parking etc. 

Zencity have been engaged to design the survey (they 
supply civic engagement software around community 

engagement). The software for this is now in place and 
training is ongoing.

2.      Procure consultation partner Complete
Complete: The new Zencity  consultation software is now 

in place.

3.      Complete first survey ahead of purdah for the 2023 
elections. This will be predominantly online but will also target 
hard to reach groups and will incorporate the national 
questions used by the LGA to facilitate benchmarking

3. Q1  2023-24
The survey will be issued following the elections . 

Analysis of the results will be available via the 
consultation software

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.         Establish a firm timetable of OD related activity around 
appraisals, business planning and staff surveys 

1. Ongoing Head of OD & 
Transformation

Ongoing: To be delivered as part of the OD strategy

Recommendation 3: Top team development across political and managerial leadership in different formats  
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

1.       A comprehensive Leadership Development Programme is 
almost complete and has been attended by the whole of ALT 
and AMT

1. Ongoing

Ongoing: Further development needs will follow from  
the OD action plan. We continue to investigate and 

promote the LGA and other opportunities for leadership 
training.

2.       Final training planned on report writing and the 
democratic process

2. Ongoing

Refresher training for Modern Gov report writing 
function  was held at the end of October and was also 

delivered via a special meeting of AMT in December. We 
continue to work with the Chief Exec & Deputy Chief 

Exec on this action.  This will also be included as part of 
the Management Development Programme. 

     
    

      
       

      
      
    

    
    

     
     

Head of OD & 
Transformation

“This would provide the opportunity 
to demonstrate further the 

uniqueness of each place and enable 
effort and resource from across 

partner organisations to coalesce 
around shared priorities”.

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

“We see benefit in undertaking 
engagement on more generic issues 

and would encourage the 
introduction of a residents’ survey 
on a regular basis as part of this”. 
“Whilst a staff survey has taken 

place relating to the impact of the 
pandemic on people’s well-being 

and working circumstances, 
undertaking a regular and 

comprehensive staff survey would 
offer significant benefit”.

Head of OD & 
Transformation

Head of 
Democratic 

Services

Page 83

Agenda Item 7



1.       Promote the LGA’s Leadership Academy course to both 
political top teams 

1. Ongoing Ongoing: We continue to investigate and promote the 
LGA and other opportunities for leadership training.

2.       Continue to share relevant LGA courses including the 
online and residential offer

2. Ongoing Ongoing: We continue to utilise LGA online training 
courses and actively promote these to Councillors.

3.       Continue the use of top team away days to establish 
further training needs

3. Annual Ongoing - Away days are completed every year.

4.      Continue to publish an annual report to standards 
committee which provides details on councillor training 
undertaken 

4. Annual

Ongoing: The report is published every year and is to be 
considered at the first Standards Committee after the 

elections as part of councillor induction.
We also keep a training log and are considering logging 
this information on the websites which may encourage 

more training.

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.       Identification of further training and development needs 
for ALT / AMT

1. Q3 2022-23 Head of OD & 
Transformation

We continue to investigate and promote the LGA and 
other opportunities for leadership training. Further 

development needs will follow from the  PEP process and 
the OD action plan

2.       Document the approach to identifying development 
needs of the senior political leadership team

2. July 2022 onwards
Head of 

Democratic 
Services

Ongoing : This is documented during  liaison with 
leaders, political group, during  meetings etc.

Recommendation 4: Taking forward the findings from the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny reports 
Linked non-key recommendations: 
a) the timeliness of committee papers being made available to elected members – along with issues of reports not always being as easy to read as they might be
b) extending opportunities for elected member engagement in budget development and doing so earlier 
c) focusing scrutiny effort and attention more on what represent the corporate priorities for each council
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

At High Peak a subcommittee of full council met and agreed the 
responses to the centre’s recommendations. Members wish to 
retain the current three committee structure. A report went to 
corporate select on the recommendations from the review in 
March 2022. 

3.   Establish a programming group

3. Ongoing

The programming group at High Peak has been set up, 
the group will be focusing the work programme going 
forward to ensure key items/priorities are considered. 

Select Committee chairs will now be appointed by 
Annual Council and framework for work programme 

setting agreed.

4.   Commence a new scrutiny training programme and   
introduce annual workshops to develop the work programme 
based on a scored evaluation of priorities (including 
involvement in budget setting)

4. Ongoing
The framework for the work programme will be agreed 

following the appointment of the Select Committee 
chairs 

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.       Deliver training on report writing and increase awareness 
of the decision-making process amongst officers

1. Ongoing
Head of 

Democratic 
Services 

Refresher training for Modern Gov report writing 
function  was held at the end of October and was also 

delivered via a special meeting of AMT in December. We 
continue to work with the Chief Exec & Deputy Chief 

Exec on this action.  This will also be included as part of 
the Management Development Programme. 

Recommendation 5: Ensuring climate change ambitions and delivery is owned right through both organisations  
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

1.       Refresh previously nominated Climate Change Champions 
within each service area

Complete
Training has been delivered for Climate Change 

Champions , further training arranged for March April 
2023.

2.       We have already achieved Bronze accreditation for 
Carbon Literacy. Training programme to be implemented in 
order to reach Silver accreditation with cascade training to 
service areas

2. April 2023

Bronze accreditation received for carbon literacy. A 
number of accredited staff members left the 

organisation, which prevented the Councils from 
achieving the silver accreditation. Further training 
sessions have been arranged for March/April 2023, 

which should take us beyond the threshold for silver.

3.       Further member training on carbon literacy 3. June 2023 Member training on carbon literacy will be delivered 
post-elections

4.       Already integrated into service plans and perf framework.  
July reports to Communities Panel and HP Wkg Group

4. Ongoing Reported to committees on an ongoing basis- last 
reported January 2023, next reports due July 2023.

5.       Monthly Climate Change and Bio-Diversity Group with 
reps from each service

5. Ongoing Meetings continue on an ongoing basis

6.       Review of internal comms and engagement plan for 
Climate Change

6. Ongoing

Internal communications are reviewed at the monthly 
Climate Change and Biodiversity Group meetings. 

Following training on engagement organised by UK100, 
we are focussing our activities on young people with our 

engagement programme beginning in March 2023.

7.       6-month and 12-month progress updates 7. Ongoing Ongoing- last reported January 2023, second annual 
report due July 2023.

8.       Hold a Climate Change Summit (High Peak) 8. Complete Delivered October 2022: complete

Recommendation 6: Effectively addressing the pay progression issue  
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

The Alliance has been working with national Trade Unions for 
the last 18 months on a new pay grade structure, with portfolio 
holders present quarterly.

1.       Reach agreement with Trade Unions

1. Complete
Complete: New pay grade structure agreed with Trade 

Unions , staff consultation commenced Nov 2022 , 
completed December 2022.

“Investment is being made in the 
climate change agenda, particularly 

in the form of recruitment to a 
shared Climate Change Officer post 
and further recruitment planned to 
take place for a Biodiversity Officer.  

The imminent arrival of this 
additional and expert capacity is 

being viewed positively across the 
councils.  However, there is a sense 

of people waiting for the injection of 
this capacity when the reality of 

what is required is ownership right 
through both organisations of the 

climate change ambitions and 
related delivery. To deliver on the 
commitments and expectations, 
climate change and sustainability 

need to be corporately owned and 
driven”.

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

    

“More and more people are reaching 
the top of their grade and therefore 
cannot progress further in terms of 

remuneration"

     
    

      
    
   
    

      
        
     

   

“We see some ‘top team’ 
development activity, constructed in 

a range of different ways, being 
helpful to build on and explore key 
elements of what we have outlined 
here and elsewhere in this report. 

These different constructions might, 
for example, comprise each 

Cabinet/Executive, ALT, both the 
Cabinet and Executive together, and 
ALT with each Cabinet/Executive”.  

Head of 
Democratic 

Services

“Both councils undertook a review of 
their Overview and Scrutiny 

arrangements in the last year or so, 
with both pieces of work being 

delivered by the Centre for Governance 
and Scrutiny. This has highlighted the 
issues, with the reports being clear on 

what needs to be undertaken. The 
findings are at the outset of being 

responded to now. In both councils, 
there are examples of good engagement 
by scrutiny members and a meaningful 

difference being made”.

Page 84



2.       Communicate outcomes to AMT 2. Complete Complete: outcomes presented to Heads of Service and 
directors in September 2022.

3.       TU to consult membership 3. Complete Completed December 2022

4.       Present solution for approval to Exec / Cabinet 4. Complete Completed October 2022.

5.       Implement new structure and communicate to all staff 5. Complete Completed December 2022

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.       Develop a comprehensive Benefits Package for all staff 
including staff discounts scheme, salary sacrifice, rewards, to 
support staff retention and for use in recruitment campaigns

1.2023 Head of OD & 
Transformation

The staff benefits package has been drafted , a brochure 
has been produced and will be launched to all staff 

Recommendation 7: Jointly determining a clear set of key priorities to make things more manageable – and developing a ‘road map’ to deliver them
Linked non-key recommendation:
There is also the need for a clear change management policy and approach in order to ensure inclusivity, shared understanding and consistency  
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

1.       Continue with political and managerial leadership annual 
away days to confirm priorities

1. Annually ALT Complete: Annual away days completed 

2.       Oversee implementation of priority projects through 
Transformation Board

2. Monthly Chief Executive
Ongoing: Transformation Board meets monthly to 

discuss all priority projects with updates from Heads of 
Service 

3.       IT & Digital / OD / Access strategies – develop a combined 
roadmap for delivery of a 3-year action plan, including any 
additional resources needed and present for scrutiny

3. Q3/4 2022-23

Head of OD & 
Transformation/H
ead of Customer 

Services

Ongoing : Action plan in place , contracts in place with 
Camberg & Socitm ready for delivery. Kick off meetings 
held with Socitm for the delivery of the digital strategy

4.       Strengthen the advice provided to change managers 
(PMOs) through the project management methodology to 
ensure communication and stakeholder engagement are 
paramount. This approach will be monitored through the 
Transformation Board.

4. Complete
Head of OD & 

Transformation

Ongoing: Project Management Framework being 
refreshed. Training sessions arranged for all staff 
involved in change management via the project 

methodology including communication and stakeholder 
engagement. Zurich engaged to provide further training 

and a deep dive review of key projects.

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.    During the development of the next Corporate Plan (2023-
27) the Alliance will look at introducing a ‘top priority’ within 
each aim and setting start-date targets for its priority actions to 
ensure a more even spread of its ambitions

Summer 2023
Chief Executive / 

Executive / 
Cabinet

Will follow as part of the priority action setting sessions 
after the 2023 elections 

Recommendation 8: Bringing forward the communications and engagement strategy (covering both internal and external)
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

1.       Information Digest report to be presented to scrutiny in 
order to engage with members on the planned content of a 
new Communications and Engagement Strategy 

1. 2023
Ongoing : Discussions underway with the LGA  to 

incorporate 'Place' into the strategy , this is currently 
being developed and will be completed during 2023.

2.       Executive and Cabinet approval of new Communications 
and Engagement Strategy

2. 2023 Will follow when strategy complete

3.     Implement Action Plan 
3. 2023 Will follow when strategy approved 

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.       Addition of engagement to the already planned Comms 
Strategy

1. Feb  2023 Will follow when strategy complete

2.      Annual visit by Chief Executive to all team meetings 2. Complete Complete: The Chief Executive attended Team Meetings  
following the pay grade review.

3.      Annual Executive Director visits to relevant team meetings 3. By March each year Complete: The Executive Directors  attended Team 
Meetings  following the pay grade review.

Recommendation 9: The councils reassuring themselves that the work that has taken place to map needs around capacity will address the issues – 
following this by translating them into a clear delivery plan 
Linked non-key recommendation:
an increased focus on ‘soft skills’ development – relating to the changing roles of councils and what this then demands of the people working within them 
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

1.       Working on priority service reviews – emerging from 
management restructure and demands from covid on service 
areas. Current proposals are beyond budget and are to be 
reviewed again

1. Complete Complete: presented to ALT 19/10 

2.       Internal approval by ALT 2. Complete Complete: presented to ALT 19/10 

3.       Commence recruitment post approval which will increase 
capacity (new principal posts in Regeneration already 
approved)

3. Ongoing
Ongoing: recruitment has commenced. New Head of 

Regeneration in place, review of ongoing staffing needs 
currently being undertaken

4.       Continue to utilise external expertise when needed to fill 
in skills gap on a short term basis e.g. Socitm and Camburg.

4. Ongoing Ongoing: Socitim and Camberg engaged to fill skill gaps 
where identified

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.   Conduct a gap analysis of soft skills and identify any training 
needed through the annual PEP process 

1.Ongoing
Head of OD & 

Transformation
Ongoing: Will follow from the  PEP's  and the OD action 

plan

Recommendation 10: Reflecting the financial pressures from emerging plans into the MTFP  
Linked non-key recommendation:
There is also something to reflect in the MTFPs regarding the councils’ respective risk appetites in relation to borrowing going forward – with a key set of discussions needing to 
be held across the political and managerial leadership around this first
Context of Recommendation Actions already planned Timeline Lead

Head of OD & 
Transformation

      
       

      
remuneration

“There is also a consideration 
emanating from the pandemic, 

around changed ways of working for 
organisations, with current council 

employees having increased 
opportunities to work elsewhere 
without needing to give up the 

quality of life they have living in or 
around High Peak and Staffordshire 

Moorlands”.   

“This reinforces the issue regarding 
prioritisation, with a need to ensure 

a sequencing of changes and 
improvements – breaking things 

down into ‘bite sized chunks’ so that 
expected progress can be seen and 

understood”.  

Head of OD & 
Transformation

Head of OD & 
Transformation

“A new communications and 
engagement strategy is emerging, 

which needs to cover both internal 
and external aspects.  This presents 

an opportunity to enhance 
approaches to external 

communications, including 
developing a greater focus on the 
use of social media and extending 

community engagement and 
consultation activities beyond largely 

specific projects or initiatives”.
“There is also the potential to 

develop more two-way engagement 
for staff, whether face to face or 
virtually, that would give them 
greater exposure to the Chief 
Executive and the wider ALT”.  

Head of OD & 
Transformation

“There is also a case for further 
modernisation of the organisations, 

including changing cultures and skills 
sets and developing a stronger 

corporate core”.

“The councils will wish to reassure 
themselves that they are thinking 

sufficiently early about where 
additional expertise could usefully 
play a role; are mitigating against 
inadvertent ‘mission creep’ with 
some providers; and that there 
aren’t thresholds being reached 

where the councils might be better 
positioned if they established their 

own permanent capacity”.

Page 85



We have already included interest rate scenarios in previous 
iterations of the MTFPs and will continue to do so

Ongoing Head of Finance Ongoing : the first iteration of the  draft MTFP was 
produced in November 

New Actions Timeline Lead

1.       Best and worst case funding scenarios will be included in 
both MTFPs going forward

1. Feb 2023 final version 
- Nov 2022 for draft

Ongoing: We will expand on the analysis we already do 
in the MTFP to reflect government fluctuations in 

funding. We will attach scenarios to the assumptions we 
make in the plan and show what  the impact will be on 
the changes for those assumptions. Sensitivity on best 
and worse case scenario linked to assumptions in the 

plan for govt funding

2.       We will include some cost consideration of emerging 
plans based on a set of assumptions around the variables in the 
next iteration of the MTFPs

2. Feb 2023 final version 
- Nov 2022 for draft

 Ongoing: We can put costing on the emerging plans but 
this will be accompanied by large caveats in terms of 

values for these figures, as they are dependant on what 
might happen in the future. The risk of inflation (i.e. for 

asset management programmes) will also be built in

3.       Discussion at risk management group on appetite for 
borrowing risk

3. Nov RMG

Complete: Included in November Risk management 
group agenda. There is enough guidance within the 

existing framework that governs our appetite for risk. 
The prudential code governs our decision making process 

for borrowing and capital expenditure

4.       Member approval for the appetite through the MTFP
4. Approval alongside 
the budget Feb 2023

Ongoing: We will guide scrutiny groups towards this 
point to ensure member feedback is noted 

“It would be good to see the MTFPs 
reflecting best and worst-case 

scenarios in relation to government 
funding”.

“We also urge the inclusion in them, 
and within the capital strategies 
where relevant, of the forward 

forecasting of the costs of emerging 
plans, including potential IT 

investment; what is required to fulfil 
climate change ambitions; what 

emerges from an assets conditions 
survey that has been commissioned; 
and the key areas requiring greater 
capacity across the organisations”.

Head of Finance

Page 86



  

 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Corporate Select Committee 
 

20th March  2023 
 

 

 

TITLE: 
Council Tax & Business Rates Relief, Reductions & 

Levy Policies 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Barrow – Executive Councillor for 
Finance and Corporate Services 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Martin Owen – Executive Director (Finance and 
Customer Services) 

Joanne Wheeldon - Head of Revenues and Benefits 
 

WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 

Non Specific 

 
Appendices Attached 
Appendix A – Business Rates Relief Policy 
Appendix B – Council Tax Reductions and Levies Policy  

 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to review and update the Business Rate Reliefs 
Policy and the Council Tax Discounts, Exemptions and Levies Policy. 

 
2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee recommend for approval the updated:  
 

 Business Rates Reliefs Policy  

 Council Tax Discounts, Exemptions and Levies Policy  

 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Business rates (or non-domestic rates) are collected from businesses who 

occupy property in order to contribute towards the cost of local services 

provided.  Each non-domestic property has a rateable value which is set by 

the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) - this broadly represents the yearly rent the 

property could have been let for on the open market on a particular date. The 

annual business rates payable is then calculated by multiplying the Rateable 

Value by the ‘business rate multiplier’ set annually by Government. 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



  

Domestic properties are placed in one of eight bands by the Valuation Office 

Agency according to its value on the open market on the 1st April 1991, with 
each band charged a different amount of Council Tax. 
 

3.2 Under the Local Government Finance Act 1988 for Business Rates, and the 

Local Government Act 1992 for Council Tax, there are a number of reliefs, 

exemptions and discounts (both mandatory and discretionary) made available 

which then reduce the amount payable for domestic/non-domestic properties if 

eligible. Details of discretionary reliefs where the Council has the choice of 

whether to apply are detailed within the report along with the cost implications. 

 

3.3 The Council’s Business Rates Relief Policy has been updated to remove any 
reliefs that are no longer relevant and to also reflect the changes Government 
has implemented from 1st April 2023. 
 

3.4 The Council’s Council Tax discounts, exemptions, reliefs and levies policy has 

also been updated  to reflect any changes since the approval of the last policy.  
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The application of business rates relief supports the aim of the Council to 
promote business growth and economic regeneration in the Borough and 

wider economic area.  The application of Council Tax discounts and reliefs 
ensures those individuals within the Borough who are eligible for financial 
support are provided with that support.  The long term empty property levy 
aims to bring properties back into use in line with the Council’s Empty 
Property Strategy.      

 
5. Options and Analysis 

 

5.1 No options in regard to mandatory reliefs and discounts available as set by 
Government. However, Government allows Authorities to make discretionary 
decisions in respect of the amount of Business Rates and Council Tax due.  

 
6. Implications 
 

6.1  Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None 
 

6.2 Workforce 
None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
The report has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Diversity and 

Equality Policy 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

None 
 

6.5 Legal 

None. 

Page 88



  

 

6.6 Sustainability 
None 
 

6.7 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
Not applicable 
 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

The granting of discretionary relief and discounts will, in the main, involve a 
cost to the Council. Any Business Rate discretionary relief amount granted will 

be borne in accordance with the Business Rate Retention Scheme share.  
 

  

Martin Owen 

Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer 
 
 

 Background Papers Location Contact details 

 Moorlands House  Joanne Wheeldon             

Head of Revenues & Benefits 
 01538 395400 ext 4070                                   
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 89



  

7. Background & Introduction 

 

7.1 Business rates (or non-domestic rates) are collected from businesses who 

occupy property in order to contribute towards the cost of local services 

provided.  Under the business rates retention arrangements introduced from 

1st April 2013, authorities keep a proportion of the business rates paid locally. 

This provides a direct financial incentive for authorities to work with local 

businesses to create a favourable local environment for growth since 

authorities will benefit from growth in business rates revenues.  

 
7.2 Other than properties that are exempt from business rates, each non-domestic 

property has a rateable value which is set by the Valuation Office Agency 

(VOA), an agency of Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs. They draw up and 

maintain a full list of all rateable values - this broadly represents the yearly rent 

the property could have been let for on the open market on a particular date. 

 
7.3 The VOA uses a wide range of property information, rental and other evidence 

to compare values across similar types of properties in order to set the 

rateable value. A revaluation has recently been undertaken and comes into 

force on        1st April 2023. 

 

7.4 The annual business rates payable is then calculated by multiplying the 

Rateable Value by one of two ‘business rate multiplier’ figures.  The business 

rates multipliers are set annually by Government, there are two: the small 

business non-domestic rate multiplier for small business and the non-domestic 

rate multiplier for other businesses.   

 

7.5 Council Tax bands are calculated using the value of a domestic property as it 

would have been at a certain point in time (the price the property would have 

sold for on open market on 1st April 1991).  Based on this value, the property 

is placed into a Council tax band, with each band charged a different amount 

of Council Tax. 

 

7.6 The VOA maintains the Council Tax Valuation List ensuring that properties  

are in the correct Council Tax band. They will review the bandings on 

properties, for example when a property has been made smaller or increased 

in size and are responsible for applying a band to newly built properties. They 

are also responsible for reviewing the banding where a challenge has been 

made. 

 

7.7 In addition to the value on 1st April 1991, assessments are also based on a 

number of factors, such as a property’s: 

 Size 

 Layout 

 Character 

Page 90



  

 Location 

 Change in use 

  
7.8 Local Authorities are able to increase Council Tax on an annual basis as part 

of the budget setting process.  However, there are Government restrictions in 

place to limit the annual increases – any increases over which are subject to a 

local referendum. 

 
7.9 Under the Local Government Finance Act 1988 for Business Rates, and the 

Local Government Act 1992 for Council Tax, there are a number of reliefs, 

exemptions and discounts (both mandatory and discretionary) made available 

which then reduce the amount payable for domestic/non-domestic properties if 

eligible.   

 
7.10 The granting of discretionary relief will, in the main, involve a cost to the 

Council.  Further detail is provided in the next sections of this report.  

 
8.  Appendix A details the updated Business Rates Relief Policy.   

 

8.1 The policy has been updated to remove any reliefs that are no longer relevant, 

for e.g. temporary reliefs and to add in any new reliefs, particularly those 

introduced alongside the implementation of the new revaluation list that comes 

into force on 1st April 2023. 

9. Appendix B details the updated Council Tax Reductions and Levy Policy 

 

9.1 The policy has been updated to add in new reliefs for e.g. Council Tax Support 

Fund 2023-24. 

 

 
 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



  March 2023 

 

 

High Peak Borough Council 
 

Business Rates Relief Policy 
 

1 Introduction and Background 

1.1  The Local Government Finance Act 1988 provides for two broad forms of 

Relief to be made available to Business Ratepayers: 

• Mandatory Relief (under Sections 43 and 45) – this can be granted to 

occupied or unoccupied properties, which satisfy the necessary criteria. 

Once an organisation satisfies the relevant criteria, the Council has a 

statutory duty to apply the Relief; and 

• Discretionary Relief (under Sections 44A, 47 and 49) – since the 1988 

Act was introduced councils have had the discretion to grant additional 

relief to certain occupiers of properties, which satisfy certain criteria. 

However, with effect from 2012/13, Clause 69 of the Localism Act 1988 

amended Section 47 referred to as Hardship Relief, to allow councils to 
reduce the Business Rates of any local Ratepayer.   

  

Discretionary Relief can be awarded in its own right or as an additional 

relief if Mandatory Relief is already being granted. When considering 

allowing Discretionary Relief a council must consider the benefit of a 

business to the local community having regard to the interests of Council 

Tax payers. 

1.2 The financial impact on the Council’s finances is different depending on 

whether Mandatory or Discretionary Relief is granted.  The granting of 

discretionary relief will, in the main, involve a cost to the Council equivalent to 

approximately 40% of the award – in line with the Business Rates Retention 

Scheme.  However, some discretionary reliefs are reimbursed in full by 

Government through a ‘Section 31’ grant.   

1.3 Although the Localism Act has extended the Council’s ability to grant 

Discretionary Relief, it does so within strictly finite resources. The purpose of 

this Policy therefore is to provide guidance to Business Rate payers of the 

specific and limited circumstances in which Relief will be granted. 

2 Available Relief 

2.1 Relief is available to the following types of Business Rate payer:  

• Charities and other non-profit making organisations (section 3) 

• Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASC) (section 4) 

• Businesses located in rural areas (section 5) 

• Small businesses (section 6) 

• Retail relief (section 7) 

Page 93



  March 2023 

 

• Empty properties (section 8)  

• Supporting Small Businesses Relief (section 9)  

• Transitional Relief (section 10) 

• Local Newspaper Rate Relief (section 11) 

• Any other business in exceptional circumstances (under Clause 69 of the 
Localism Act 2011)  (section 12) 

• Hardship Relief (section 13)  

 

2.2 Sections 3 to 13 deal with the qualifying conditions of each type of Relief in 

more detail.  

2.3 In 2005, community interest companies were introduced as a new type of 

company intended for social enterprises who use their profits and assets for 

the public good. These are not eligible for mandatory relief but can be 

considered for discretionary relief. 

3 Charities and Other Non-Profit Making Organisations 

3.1     Relief is available to charitable and non-profit making organisations in certain 

circumstances. Relief varies dependent upon the type of organisation and the 

purpose for which the property is used. 

3.2 Mandatory Relief is awarded in the following circumstances: 

i) The Ratepayer of an occupied property is a charity or trustee for a charity 

and where the property is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes. In 

such circumstances, Mandatory Relief of 80% will be awarded  (it may also be 

possible to qualify for up to 20% Discretionary Relief on such properties); and 

ii) The owner of an unoccupied property is a charity or trustee for a charity and 

it appears, when next in use, the property will be wholly or mainly used for 

charitable purposes. In such circumstances an exemption will be granted.  

3.3 Discretionary Relief may be awarded where: 

i Where the property is not an “excepted hereditament” (property) and all 

or part of it is occupied by one or more institution or organisation which 

are: 

• Not established or conducted for profit; and 

• Whose aims should be charitable or otherwise philanthropic, or 

concerned with the promotion of social welfare, education, science, 

literature or the fine arts. In such circumstances Discretionary Relief 
of up to 100% can be awarded.                                  

ii Where the Rate payer is a charity or trustee for a charity and where the 

property is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes. In such 

circumstances, Mandatory Relief of 80% will already have been 

awarded. Therefore Discretionary Relief of up to 20% can be awarded.      

3.4 The Council will determine each case on its own merits. The guidelines are:  

i In respect of Charitable Properties:  

Page 94



  March 2023 

 

• Applications are required in writing and will be reviewed on a 
regular basis; and 

• Confirmation of charitable status is necessary. 

ii In respect of Non-Profit Making Organisations, the following factors will 

be considered:  

  

• Is membership available to all of the community and is it actively 
promoted? 

• Are the facilities available to non-members? 

• Are the facilities ones that the Council is unable to provide and 
wishes to promote? 

• Have the facilities available been provided by self-help or grant 
aid? 

• Are the facilities competing with or ancillary to the facilities 

currently offered by the Council? (applications will not be refused 

on the grounds that an organisation is in competition with the 
Council if the  

broader needs of the community are being met)   

• Does the organisation provide training and education for its 
members, non-members, minority or special need groups? 

• Is membership drawn from local residents and taxpayers? 

• What are the financial circumstances of the organisation - do they 

raise finance to support their activities? 

4 Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs) 

4.1  With effect from April 2002, many local amateur sports clubs were able to 

register with the Inland Revenue as Community Amateur Sports Clubs 

(CASCs) and benefit from a range of tax relief, including Gift Aid. The detail of 

the legislation is contained within Schedule 18 of the Finance Act 2002. 

4.2  Provided a club is registered with the Inland Revenue, they will automatically 

qualify for Mandatory Relief of 80%. 

4.3  The Council has discretion to consider awarding up to an additional 20% in 

discretionary relief. 

4.4 The Council will determine each case on its own merits. The guidelines are:  

In order to qualify for Mandatory Relief:   

• An application is required  

• Confirmation of CASC status is necessary. 

In order to consider awarding discretionary relief of up to 20% consideration 

will be given as follows: 

• Membership – Is membership open to all sections of the community 

within the District? Membership fees must not be at a level where they 

Page 95



  March 2023 

 

exclude the general community. Membership of the organisation should 

be mainly resident in the District.  

• Education – the organisation will provide training, education or learning to 

its members. The organisation will be treated favourably where the 

training delivered supports and reduces the Council’s need to do so.  

• Direct benefit to local residents – the organisation should directly 

benefit the needs of the local residents of the District. The organisation 

must show how it benefits the residents of the District. Examples could 

include the creation of job opportunities within the area.  

• Provision of facilities – does the organisation provide facilities which 

would not otherwise be available to the local community. 

5 Rural Relief 

5.1  Relief from Business Rates is available for Public Houses, Petrol Filling 

Stations, General Stores, and Post Offices if they are the only business of its 

type within a Rural Settlement area listed below. Rural Relief may also be 

granted to qualifying rural food shops. Such Relief is applicable to occupied 

properties only.   

5.2 In order to qualify for Mandatory Relief the property will have to: 

• be in a Rural Settlement Area of 3,000 people or less; and 

• be a Post Office or General Store with a rateable value of £8,500 or 

less, and be the only such property within a settlement area; or 

• be a Public House or Petrol Filling Station with a rateable value of 

£12,500 or less, and be the only such property within a settlement 

area; or 

• be a Village Shop selling mainly food for human consumption with a 

Rateable Value of £8,500 or less. 

5.3 Prior to April 2017, the mandatory award of Rural Rate Relief was 50%. From 

1st April 2017, this has been increased to 100%.  The Government intends to 

change the relevant primary legislation but expects Councils in the meantime 

to use discretionary powers to increase relief to 100%. 

5.4 Where a property meets either of the above criteria but the rateable value 

exceeds the set limits, the Council has discretion to award discretionary relief 

where: 

• has a Rateable Value of less than £16,500; and  is of benefit to the 

local community. 

• The award of the relief is in the interests of the Council’s taxpayers  

5.5 For claiming Rural Relief the following conditions apply:  

Page 96



  March 2023 

 

• An application form is required  

If applying for the Discretionary element of Rural Relief, audited accounts for  the last 

two years must be provided; and each application is considered on its own merits.  

5.6 Rural Settlement areas within High Peak Borough Council 

 

In accordance with the Local Government and Rating Act 1997 (LGRA 1997), a total 

of 46 Rural Settlement Areas (RSAs) have been designated within High Peak as 
follows: 

 

 

Aston       Hayfield 
Bamford      Hope 

Birch Vale      King Sterndale 
Bridgemont      Little Hayfield 
Brookbottom      New Smithy 

Brough      Peak Dale 
Buxworth      Peak Forest 

Castleton      Rowarth 
Chapel Milton     Shatton 
Charlesworth      Small Dale 

Chinley      Sparrowpit 
Chisworth      Sterndale Moor 

Combs      Thornhill 
Dove Holes      Thornsett 
Edale       Tunstead Milton 

Furness Vale      Whitehough 
Fernilee      Wormhill 

Hague Bar 
 
 

6. Small Businesses 

6.1  Small Business Rate Relief is available at 100% for Business Ratepayers 

occupying single properties with a Rateable Value of up to £12,000 

(previously £6,000 prior to 1st April 2017), with Relief declining on percentage 

terms on a sliding scale until it is 0% at a rateable value of £15,000 (£12,000 

prior to 1st April 2017). 

6.2  The cost of the Relief granted is funded through a supplement on the 

Business Rates bills of those businesses not eligible for the Relief. The 

supplement is built into the standard “Non-Domestic Rating Multiplier”.  

6.3  Ratepayers of eligible business properties with Rateable Values between 

£15,000 and £51,000 (previously £12,000 and £18,000 prior to 1st April 2017) 

do not have to contribute towards the Relief and will have their bills calculated 

using the lower (small business) Non-Domestic Rating Multiplier. 

  

6.4 The Relief is only available to Rate payers with either:  

Page 97



  March 2023 

 

• One property; or 

• One main property and other additional properties with Rateable Values 
less than £2,899 (£2,600 prior to 1st April 2017). 

The Rateable Value of the one property or the aggregate Rateable Value of all 
properties must be under £20,000 (£18,000 prior to 1st April 2017). 

7          Retail Relief 

7.1  The following discount will be available for the financial year 2023/24 only. 

7.2  At the Autumn Statement on 17 November 2022 the Chancellor announced 

the introduction of a new business rates relief scheme for retail, hospitality 

and leisure properties worth around £2.1 billion in 2023/24. This will support 

the businesses that make our high streets and town centres a success and 

help them to evolve and adapt to changing consumer demands. 

7.3 In order to qualify, hereditaments that meet the eligibility for Retail, Hospitality 
and Leisure scheme will be occupied hereditaments which meet all of the 
following conditions for the chargeable day: 

a. they are wholly or mainly being used: 

i. as shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas or live music 

venues, 

ii. for assembly and leisure; or 

iii. as hotels, guest & boarding premises or self-catering accommodation 

7.4  We consider shops, restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and 

live music venues to mean: 

7.5 i. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting 

members of the public: 

 Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, 

stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, 
supermarkets, etc) 

 Charity shops 

 Opticians 

 Post offices 

 Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing, 
garage doors) 

 Car/caravan show rooms 

 Second-hand car lots 

Page 98



  March 2023 

 

 Markets 

 Petrol stations 

 Garden centres 

 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 

7.6 ii. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 

services to visiting members of the public:  

 Hair and beauty services (such as: hairdressers, nail bars, beauty salons, 
tanning shops, etc) 

 Shoe repairs/key cutting 

 Travel agents 

 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre 

 Dry cleaners 

 Launderettes 

 PC/TV/domestic appliance repair 

 Funeral directors 

 Photo processing 

 Tool hire 

 Car hire 

7.7 iii. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to 

visiting members of the public: 

 Restaurants 

 Takeaways 

 Sandwich shops 

 Coffee shops 

 Pubs 

 Bars 

7.8 iv. Hereditaments which are being used as cinemas 

7.9 v. Hereditaments that are being used as live music venues:  

 Live music venues are hereditaments wholly or mainly used for the 

performance of live music for the purpose of entertaining an audience. 
Hereditaments cannot be considered a live music venue for the purpose of 
business rates relief where a venue is wholly or mainly used as a nightclub 

or a theatre, for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). 

 Hereditaments can be a live music venue even if used for other activities, 
but only if those other activities (i) are merely ancillary or incidental to the 
performance of live music (e.g. the sale/supply of alcohol to audience 

members) or (ii) do not affect the fact that the primary activity for the 
premises is the performance of live music (e.g. because those other 

Page 99



  March 2023 

 

activities are insufficiently regular or frequent, such as a polling station or a 
fortnightly community event). 

 There may be circumstances in which it is difficult to tell whether an activity 
is a performance of live music or, instead, the playing of recorded music. 

Although we would expect this would be clear in most circumstances, 
guidance on this may be found in Chapter 16 of the statutory 
guidance issued in April 2018 under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. 

7.10  We consider assembly and leisure to mean: 

i. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of sport, leisure 

and facilities to visiting members of the public (including for the viewing 

of such activities). 

 Sports grounds and clubs 

 Museums and art galleries 

 Nightclubs 

 Sport and leisure facilities 

 Stately homes and historic houses 

 Theatres 

 Tourist attractions 

 Gyms 

 Wellness centres, spas, massage parlours 

 Casinos, gambling clubs and bingo halls 

7.11 ii. Hereditaments that are being used for the assembly of visiting 

members of the public. 

 Public halls 

 Clubhouses, clubs and institutions 

7.12  We consider hotels, guest & boarding premises and self-catering 

accommodation to mean: 

i. Hereditaments where the non-domestic part is being used for the 

provision of living accommodation as a business:  

 Hotels, Guest and Boarding Houses 

 Holiday homes 

 Caravan parks and sites 

 

7.13    The following list sets out those properties that would not be  eligible for the 

discount: Financial services eg banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux 
de changes, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers; 

 

Other services e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies  

Medical services e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors  

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003


  March 2023 

 

Post Office sorting offices. 
 

These lists are not exhaustive and any properties used for other purposes will 
be considered on an individual basis. Where it is clear that a property is used 

wholly or mainly for one of the uses detailed in the first list, the relief will be 
automatically applied. Where it is not clear, ratepayers may wish to contact 
the council to discuss eligibility.  

7.14 The amount of relief awarded will be equivalent to 75% of the bill, after other 

reliefs and exemptions are applied.  

7.15 In line with the conditions set by the government, a ratepayer may only claim 

up to £110,000 of support under the 2023/24 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure 
Relief Scheme for all of their eligible hereditaments. This cash cap applies at 

a Group company level (so holding companies and subsidiaries cannot claim 
up to the cash cap for each company) and also to organisations which, 

although not a company, have such an interest in a company that they would, 

if they were a company, result in its being the holding company. 

7.16 Furthermore, the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Relief Scheme is subject to 

the Minimal Financial Assistance limits under the Subsidy Control Act. This 
means no recipient can receive over £315,000 over a 3-year period 
(consisting of the current financial year and the 2 previous financial years). 

Extended Retail Discounts granted in 2021/22 do not count towards the limit. 
Covid business grants received from local government and any other subsidy 

claimed under the Minimal Financial Assistance or Small Amounts of Financial 
Assistance limit over the 3-year period should be counted. 

7.17 Therefore, to claim the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure relief you must not have 

exceeded either the £110,000 cash cap for 2023/24 or the Minimal Financial 
Assistance limit of £315,000 over 3 years (including 2023/24). Further details 

of the cash cap and subsidy control can be found 
at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-relief-202324-

retail-hospitality-and-leisure-scheme-local-authority-guidance. 

The relief will be applied for the financial year 2023/24 only, provided that the 
properties are used wholly or mainly for a qualifying purpose throughout. 

8 Empty Property Relief 

8.1  Mandatory Relief will be granted in the first 3 months that a business property 

is empty. This is extended to 6 months in the case of certain industrial 
properties. 

8.2  After these periods have expired, Business Rates are payable in full unless 

the unoccupied property rate has been reduced by Government Order. In 

most cases, the unoccupied property rate is zero for properties owned by 

Charities and Community Amateur Sports Clubs. 

8.3      There are a number of exemptions from the Empty Property Rate as follows: 

Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-relief-202324-retail-hospitality-and-leisure-scheme-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-relief-202324-retail-hospitality-and-leisure-scheme-local-authority-guidance


  March 2023 

 

• Where an owner is prohibited by law from occupying a business property 

or allowing a business property to be occupied 

• Where a business property is kept vacant by reason of action taken by or 

on behalf of the Crown or any local or public authority with a view to 
prohibiting occupation or to acquiring it 

• Where a business property is the subject of a building preservation notice, 

or is a listed building 

• Ancient monuments 

• Business properties with a Rateable Value less than £2,900 

• Where an owner is entitled to business property only in their capacity as 

the personal representative of a deceased person; and 

• In certain instances of insolvency and debt administration. 

8.4  Discretionary Relief (under Section 44a of the 1988 Act)  can be awarded 

where a business property is temporarily partly occupied. Where such 

discretion is exercised, a valuation officer will apportion Rateable Value 

between the occupied and unoccupied parts of the property. 

9. 2023 Revaluation Reliefs 

9.1 Supporting Small Businesses Relief (temporary from 1st April 2023) 

   At the 2022 Autumn Statement the Chancellor announced that the 2023 

Supporting Small Business (SSB) scheme will cap bill increases at £600 per 
year for any business losing eligibility for some or all Small Business Rate 

Relief or Rural Rate Relief at the 2023 revaluation. SSB was first introduced 
at the 2017 revaluation to support ratepayers facing bill increases greater than 
the Transitional Relief caps due to loss of Small Business Rate Relief or Rural 

Rate Relief. 
 

9.2 2023 SSBR will help those ratepayers who as a result of the change in their 
rateable value at the revaluation are losing some or all of their Small 
Business, Rural Rate Relief or 2017 SSBR and, as a result, are facing large 

increases in their bills. Charities and Community Amateur Sports Clubs, who 
are already entitled to mandatory 80% relief, are not eligible for 2023 SSBR. 

 
9.3 To support these ratepayers, 2023 SSBR will ensure that the increase in the 

bills of these ratepayers is limited to a cash value of £600 per year. This cash 

maximum increase ensures that ratepayers do not face large bill increases in 
2023/24 after transitional relief and small business rate relief (as applicable) 

have been applied. In order to simplify the scheme, the 2023 SSBR will not 
include minimum percentage bill increases (unlike the 2017 scheme). 

 

9.4 Those on 2023 SSBR whose 2023 rateable values are £51,000 or more will 
not be liable to pay the supplement (1.3p) to fund small business rate relief 

while they are eligible for 2023 SSBR. 
 

Page 102



  March 2023 

 

9.5 The 2017 SSBR scheme was provided to support small and medium 
ratepayers who had seen large increases in their bills at the 2017 revaluation. 

They have, therefore, had 6 years of support to allow them to adjust to their 
full 2017bills. Therefore, for those ratepayers receiving 2017 SSB relief in 

2022/23, any eligibility for 2023 SSBR will end on 31 March 2024. Authorities 
should ensure this eligibility criteria is clear in the scheme approved by their 
council and that relief for these ratepayers is awarded for one year only so 

that the relief can then be withdrawn on 31 March 2024 without further notice. 
All other eligible ratepayers remain in 2023 SSBR for either 3 years or until 

they reach the bill they would have paid without the scheme. A change of 
ratepayers will not affect eligibility for the Supporting Small Business scheme 
but eligibility will be lost if the property falls vacant or becomes occupied by a 

charity or Community Amateur Sports Club. 
 

9.6 There is no second property test for eligibility for the 2023 SSBR scheme. 
However, those ratepayers who during 2022/23 lost entitlement to Small 
Business Rate Relief (because they failed the second property test) but have, 

under the rules for Small Business Rate Relief, been given a 12 month period 
of grace before their relief ended - can continue. 

 
9.7 The 2023 SSBR is likely to amount to a subsidy. Therefore, any relief 

provided by Local Authorities under this scheme will need to comply with the 

UK’s domestic and international subsidy control obligations.  
 
9.8 To the extent that a local authority is seeking to provide relief that falls below 

the Minimal Financial Assistance (MFA) thresholds, the Subsidy Control Act 
allows an economic actor (e.g. a holding company and its subsidiaries) to 

receive up to £315,000 in a three-year period (consisting of the 2023/24 year 
and the two previous financial years). MFA subsidies cumulate with each 
other and with other subsidies that fall within the category of ‘Minimal or SPEI 

financial assistance’. BEIS COVID-19 business grants and any other 
subsidies claimed under the Small Amounts of Financial Assistance limit of 

the Trade and Cooperation Agreement should be counted under the £315,000 
allowance. 

 

9.9 In those cases where it is clear to the local authority that the ratepayer is likely 
to breach the MFA limit then the authority should automatically withhold the 

relief. Otherwise, local authorities may include the relief in bills and ask the 
ratepayers, on a self-assessment basis, to inform the authority if they are in 
breach of the MFA limit.  

 
9.10 The Council will be applying this relief in accordance with Government 

guidelines and confirming in writing to those eligible businesses. Those 

businesses that feel they may be eligible but have not received a letter and 

revised bill need to contact the Council. 

 

10 Transitional Relief 2023 

Page 103



  March 2023 

 

A transitional relief scheme will be introduced in April 2023 to lessen the 
impact of any rates increases and will run for three years. 

 

10.1 These caps will be applied before other reliefs, for example, 
supplements, and, in years two and three, inflation. 

Properties that have had a rateable value reduction will benefit from the 
reduction straight away, rather than having the reduction phased in gradually. 

11 Local Newspaper Rate Relief (From 1st April 2020 until 31st March 2025) 

11.1  The Government has committed to providing funding to local authorities so 

that they can provide a discount worth up to £1,500 a year for 2 years from 1st 

April 2020, to office space occupied by local newspapers. This is up to a 

maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, and 

up to state aid limits. The relief will be delivered through local authority 

discretionary discount powers (under section 47(3) of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988). 

11.2 The Council will grant in accordance with Government guidelines.  

12 Other Businesses  

12.1  Discretionary Rate Relief of up to 100% may be awarded to any other 

Ratepayer in exceptional circumstances under Clause 69 of the Localism Act 
2011, where it is in the Council’s strategic or operational interests to do so.       

13 Hardship Relief 

13.1  The Council may remit payment of Business Rates in part or in full in certain 
cases of hardship. 

 

13.2 An application for reduction must consider:  

• That the Ratepayer would sustain hardship if remission of rates was not 
granted; and 

Rateable Value 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Small RV up to £20,000 5% 10% 25% 

Medium RV £20,001 to £100,000 15% 25% 40% 

Large RV over £100,000 30% 40% 55% 

Page 104



  March 2023 

 

• That it is reasonable to grant remission, having regard to the interests of 

the Council Taxpayer. 

13.3  The circumstances where the Council would consider for the granting of 

Hardship Relief are:  

• The potential threat of closure of a business, and the loss of employment 

to local people; and 

• Preserving the local community and fabric of village life. 

13.4 For claiming Hardship Relief the following conditions apply:  

• An application must be made 

• Remission should be the exception rather than the rule 

• All factors relating to the business should be taken into account; and 

Each case should be decided on its own merits. 

13.5 The following evidence will be taken into consideration when assessing an 

application for Hardship Relief: 

• The current year’s accounts should be compared with previous years’ 
accounts 

• Explanation of how the hardship has arisen; and Steps taken to try to 

remedy the situation. 

14       Summary of Award - Granting Relief  

14.1 In all cases, the Council will notify the ratepayer of decisions made.  Where an 

application is successful, then the following will be notified to them in writing:  

• The amount of relief granted and the date from which it has been granted;  

• If relief has been granted for a specified period, the date on which it will 
end;  

• The new chargeable amount;  

• The details of any planned review dates and the notice that will be given in 
advance of a change to the level of relief granted; and  

• A requirement that the applicant should notify the Council of any change 

in circumstances that may affect entitlement to relief.  

14.2 Where relief is not granted then the following information is provided, again in 
writing:  

• An explanation of the decision within the context of each Councils' 
statutory duty; and  

• An explanation of the appeal rights (see below) 

The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989  

14.3  Discretionary relief is to be granted from the beginning of the financial year in 

which the decision is made. Since 1997 decisions can be made up to 6 

months after the end of the financial year for which the application was made. 

In such cases, the Council may backdate its decision.  

Page 105



  March 2023 

 

14.4  A decision to award discretionary relief and how much relief is given is 

normally only applicable to the financial year for which the application is 

made. However, the Council reserves the right to grant relief for any other 

period as appropriate. In relation to the Discretionary Business Rate Relief 

scheme, awards will, in the main be granted from 1st April 2017.  

14.5  A fresh application for discretionary relief will be necessary for each financial 
year or at such time-period as the Council determines.  

 

14.6  Variation of a decision 

 

Variations in any decision will be notified to ratepayers as soon as practicable 

and will take effect as follows:  

• Where the amount is to be increased due to a change in rate charge or a 

change in a Council's decision which increases the award - this will apply 
from the date the Council as appropriate;  

• Where the amount is to increase for any other reason it will take effect at 

the expiry of a financial year, and so that at least one year's notice is 
given;  

• Where the amount is to be reduced due to a reduction in the rate charge 

or liability including any reduction in rateable value, awarding of another 

relief or exemption this will apply from the date of the decrease in rate 
charge; and  

• Where the amount is to be reduced for any other reason, it wi ll take effect 

at the expiry of a financial year, and so that at least one year's notice is 

given.  

14.7  A decision may be revoked at any time, however, a one year period of notice 
will be given and the change will take effect at the expiry of a financial year.  

Reviews  

14.8 The policy for granting relief will be reviewed annually or sooner where there is 

a substantial change to the legislation or funding rules. At such time, a revised 
policy will be brought before the relevant committee of the Council. 

Appeals 

14.9 Appeal against a refusal to grant Mandatory Relief is to the Magistrates Court at 

a Liability Order hearing if the decision is whether a property falls into one of 

the necessary categories. 

14.10 The appeal will be by way of Judicial Review if the appeal is in respect of a 

village not being designated as a Rural Settlement. 

14.11 An appeal against a refusal to grant Discretionary Relief wi ll be by way of 
Judicial Review. 

 

Page 106



March 2023 

 

 

        APPENDIX B 

        High Peak Borough Council 

Council Tax Reductions & Levies Policy 

 

This policy sets out the discounts, exemptions, reliefs and levies that are available to 

Council Tax payers. 

1. Discounts, Disregards and Exemptions 

1.1. The Local Government Act 1992 defines a number of mandatory discounts, persons 

disregarded for Council Tax purposes and exempt properties:- 

1.2 Single Person Discount 

If only one adult is living in a property, a 25% discount is applied known as ‘single 

person discount’. 

1.3 Disabled Banding Reduction 

If someone living in a property is disabled and uses a wheelchair indoors, or requires 

an additional bathroom, kitchen, or a room to meet the needs of a disability, a 

Disabled Banding Reduction is available. If applied, the Council Tax bill will be based 
on the valuation band immediately below that of the property. If the property is in a 

band A, the Council Tax bill will be 5/9ths of the Local Authorities band D charge. An 

application will be required, in writing, annually. 

1.4 Annexe Discount 

From 1 April 2014 annexes which are used by the occupier of the main house as part 

of the main home, or annexes which are occupied by a relative of the person living in 

the main house will be entitled to a 50% reduction in the Council Tax payable on the 

annexe. 

1.5 Persons Disregarded 

People in the following groups are not counted for Council Tax purposes: 

• Full time students, student nurses, apprentices and foreign language 

assistants 

• Young people for whom child benefit is payable and 18/19 year olds who have 

just left school or college 

• Patients resident in hospital or residential care homes 

• Severely mentally impaired people 

• People in certain hostels or night shelters 

• Low paid care workers usually for charities 

• People caring for a person with a disability who is not a spouse, partner or 

child under 18    

• Members of religious communities such as monks or nuns 

• People in detention (except for non-payment of council tax or a fine) 

Page 107



March 2023 

 

 

• Members of visiting forces and certain international institutions  

•  Foreign diplomats 

• Ukrainian refugees housed under the Homes for Ukraine scheme 

 

 

 

1.6 Exempt Occupied Properties  

Council Tax is not charged for some properties including those where: 

• They are Halls of Residence 

• All residents are students 

• They are used for armed forces accommodation 

• They are lived in by members of visiting forces 

• All residents are under the age of 18 

• All residents are severely mentally impaired 

• At least one person is a foreign diplomat 

• It is an annexe occupied by a dependant relative 

If part of a property is self-contained (granny flat or annexe) and lived in by a relative, 

the council tax bill will be reduced by 50%.  This is applied on top of any other 

eligible discount. 

1.7 Exempt Unoccupied Properties 

Council Tax will not be charged for unoccupied properties: 

• Owned by a charity (allowed up to six months) 

• Left empty by someone who has gone to prison or has been detained under 

the Mental Health Act 

• Previously occupied by a person in permanent residential care 

• Waiting for probate or letters of administration to be granted 

• Empty because occupation is forbidden by law 

• Waiting to be occupied by a minister of religion 

• Left empty by someone who had moved to receive personal care by reason of 

old age, disablement or illness 

• Left empty by someone who has moved to provide personal care to another 

person 

• Owned by a student and last occupied by a student 

• Subject to a Repossession Order 

• The Responsibility of a bankrupt person’s trustee 

• A site for a caravan, mobile home or mooring 

• Unable to let separately because it is linked to, or in the grounds of, another 

property 

2.      Locally Determined Discounts & Empty Home Levy 

The Local Government Act 2003 introduced Sections 11A and 13A to the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992. Section 11B (council tax premium) was inserted with 

effect from 1 April 2013 by Section 12(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 2012.  

 

2.1 Section 11A: prescribed dwellings: 

Page 108

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/026/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/026/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/014/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/014/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/014/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/017/contents


March 2023 

 

 

There are four classes of dwelling in England where local authorities can vary the 

discount granted:  

2.2 Class A (Second/Holiday Home) 

For dwellings which are not the sole or main residence, are furnished, but their 

continuous occupation is restricted by planning regulations to less than 28 days a 

year. 

2.3 Class B (Second/Holiday Home) 

For all other dwellings which are not sole or main residence, are furnished, and their 

continuous occupation is not restricted by planning regulations to less than 28 days a  

year. 

Any percentage of discount between 0% and 100% can be levied in respect of 

classes A and B. 

The Council’s current policy for holiday/second homes is to apply a 100% 
charge. 

2.4 Class C (Empty and Unoccupied) 

Class C applies to empty property which is unoccupied and unfurnished and no 

longer qualifies for any time limitations.  

The Council’s current policy is to apply a period of 100% relief awarded up to a 

maximum of 3 months where the property remains empty and unoccupied. 

2.5 Class D (Uninhabitable) 

Dwellings that are unoccupied and unfurnished and:  

 require or are undergoing major repair to make them habitable or are 
undergoing structural alteration 

 have undergone major repair work to render them habitable, if less 
than six months have elapsed since the date on which the alteration 

was substantially completed and the dwelling has continuously 
remained unoccupied and unfurnished since that date. 

A council tax reduction of any percentage up to 100% may be applied to dwellings 

that fall into this class, but dwellings will only fall into this class for a maximum of 12 

months. 

The Council’s current policy is to apply a reduction of 50% awarded up to a 
maximum of 12 months. 

3 Section 11B: higher amount for long term empty dwelling – England  

3.1 Long Term Empty Property Premium 

Properties that have been unoccupied for more than 2 years are subject to an 

additional premium.  Prior to April 2019, this premium was a maximum of 50% - 

resulting in a Council Tax charge of 150%.   

Page 109

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2964/contents/made


March 2023 

 

 

From 1st April 2019 Local Government Authorities were given new powers, under the 

Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax Act 2018 which came into 

force in November 2018, to charge an Empty Homes Premium of: 

• An extra 100% Council Tax for properties empty for at least two years from 1st 

April 2019. 

• An extra 200% Council Tax for properties empty for at least five years from 1st 

April 2020. 

• An extra 300% Council Tax for properties empty for at least ten years from 1st 

April 2021. 

 From 1st April 2022, the Council will charge a 100% levy for properties empty 

over 2 years, a 200% levy for properties empty for over 5 years and a 300% levy 
for all properties empty for over 10 years. 

4 Section 13A - Other Discretionary Relief 

4.1 Section 13A (1) (c) relief awards will be used in cases of unforeseen or exceptional 

circumstances that threaten taxpayers’ abilities to fund the cost of council tax and 
may threaten their ability to remain in their homes. 

4.2 The main features of this relief are that: 

• it is discretionary; 

• an applicant does not have a statutory right to a payment; 

• the operation of the scheme is for the Council to determine; 

• if the applicant is dissatisfied with any decision taken on a claim that they have 

made, they can ask for further details on the decision and make an appeal in 

line with this Policy. 

4.3 Where a scheme relates to a Government Scheme (e.g. the case of severe flooding) 
the features of any discretionary discount will be as define by Government or, where 

local discretion is allowed, as defined by the Council for that specific purpose. 

4.4 The Council will consider applying discretionary relief if all of the following 
circumstances are satisfied:- 

• The applicant has an outstanding council tax balance; 

• There is compelling evidence of extreme financial hardship; 

• No other occupants of the property could contribute towards the council tax 

payable; 

• Enforcing the full council tax liability would result in severe hardship e.g. 

        insufficient money being available for basic and essential needs such as  

housing, food, heating, lighting or essential medical needs; 

• The liable person does not have access to assets or funds of any kind which 

could be used to meet their council tax liability; 

• All alternative means of resolving the outstanding liability have been exhausted 
– this includes but is not limited to discounts, exemptions, council tax support, 

valuation office/valuation tribunal application; 

Page 110



March 2023 

 

 

• The liable person can demonstrate that they have no available income to pay 

their council tax; 

• If the liability relates to a retrospective period the customer can demonstrate 

and evidence that arrears did not accrue due to their wilful refusal to pay council 

tax or due to their culpable neglect to pay their council tax. 

• The customer can evidence that each of the criteria set out above was satisfied 

for the entire period for which they wish to be considered for discretionary relief. 

4.5 If all of the above circumstances are satisfied the Council will consider granting relief. 

The Council retains ultimate discretion, in accordance with the discretionary nature of 

the scheme, and applications for relief will be considered on their individual merits. 

4.6 Evidence 

In deciding whether to make a Section 13A (1) (c) award the Council will have regard 

to the applicant’s circumstances. In order to do this the Council will make enquiries 

regarding the income and expenditure of all household members. 

Household members may be asked to supply reasonable supporting evidence to 

substantiate the answers that they give to the questions above. This may include, but 

is not limited to: 

• income & expenditure statements; 

• any sources of credit such as cash cards, credit cards, store cards, cheque 
cards, cheque accounts, overdraft facilities, loan arrangements; 

• any help which is likely to be available to the applicant from other sources; 

any other special circumstance of which we are aware. 

4.7 Evidence may be requested that is relevant to the application (e.g. evidence of  

illness). Where information or evidence requested has not been received within 21 

days the Council will determine the application on the basis of the evidence and 
information in its possession. The Council may refuse to grant relief where the 

absence of information and evidence prevents the Council from reaching an informed 

decision regarding the applicant’s circumstances. 

4.8 The Council will make all decisions on the basis or merit; it wi ll act fairly and 

reasonably, and will have regard to all the relevant circumstances. 

4.9 Application Process 

Applications should be made in writing (including email) to the Revenues Team 

under the title of Section 13A (1) (c) Relief Application. Applications may be made by 

the customer claiming the reduction, or a party authorised by the applicant. 

Each application must set out the circumstances upon which the application is based 

and should include: 
- The level of discount being requested (i.e. is this for the full year’s council tax or 

part of it, such as 50%); 

- The reason for the request (i.e. why is the discount wanted and how this meets 

our policy); 

- Period of time the discount is wanted for (i.e. the full financial year, part of 

financial year or some other period of time); 

Page 111



March 2023 

 

 

- Steps that have been taken to meet or mitigate the council tax liability (i.e. any 

other discounts or reductions awarded). 

4.10 The Council will endeavour to make a decision within 28 days of receiving all the 

information required and any discount granted whether in part or full will be 

recommended by the Senior Revenues Officers and approved by The Head of 

Revenues and Benefits.  

4.11 Amount of relief 

The amount of discretionary relief to be awarded will be at the Council’s discretion. 

Any amount of relief granted will be credited to the council tax account and should 

not result in a positive balance on the council tax account. 

4.12 Period of relief 

The Council retains ultimate discretion over the period for which relief may be 

granted. Relief will only be granted on liability for the financial year in which the 

request is made or for such prior period as the Council deems appropriate. Relief will 

not be awarded for subsequent financial years unless a further successful request is 

made. 

The Council retains the right to withdraw relief at any time, inc luding for retrospective 

periods: 

• where conditions or circumstances in which the reduction was granted change 
or fail to materialise 

• information submitted as part of the application proves misleading 

• applicant ceases to be a Council Tax payer 

The customer must advise the Council of any such relevant change to their 

circumstances within 14 days of the change occurring. 

4.13 Decision Making and appeals 

Any relief granted in accordance with this policy must be determined as follows: 

• Decisions for reliefs will be made within 28 days of receipt of application and 
all relevant information. The applicant will be notified of the decision in writing. 

The notification will include the decision and details of any amount of relief to 

be awarded and details of the period to which the award relates. 

• Where the request for a Section 13A (1) (c) relief is unsuccessful or not met in 

full the Council will explain the reasons why the decision was made, and 

explain the applicant’s right of appeal. 

• Section 13A (1) (c) awards are administered under the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992. Any appeals against a decision to refuse an award or 
about the amount of any award made will be administered in accordance with 

the following process: 

- An applicant (or their representative) who wants an explanation of a 
Section 13A (1) (c) Relief application decision may request one in writing 

within one calendar month of notification of the decision; 

- An applicant (or their representative) who disagrees with a decision may 

appeal the decision; 

Page 112



March 2023 

 

 

- Any appeal must be made in writing, but must be made within one 

calendar month of the original decision being notified to the applicant or, if 
requested, within one calendar month of the written reasons being notified 

to the applicant, whichever is the later; 

- Where possible the Council will try to resolve the matter by explaining the 
reasons for the decision to the applicant or their representative either 

verbally or in writing; 

- Where agreement cannot be reached, the Chief Executive will review the 
decision. The review will be suspended if more information is needed from 

the applicant; 

- The applicant will have one calendar month to respond to the request for 
further information, thereafter the review will be undertaken on the 

information held; 

4.14 Upon receipt of a request for a review, the Executive Director (Chief Finance Officer) 

 will review the original decision and consider whether there are grounds to change 

the decision. 
The Council will notify a customer of the appeal decision within 20 days of receiving 

a request for reconsideration. 

Where a Council Tax payer is aggrieved by a Council’s refusal to abide by its own 

resolution to award discount regarding a specific class, further appeal may be made 

to the Valuation Tribunal. 
 

4.15 Overpayments 

If the Council becomes aware that the information contained in an application for a 

Section 13A (1) (c) Relief was incorrect or that relevant information was not declared, 

either intentionally or otherwise, the Council may seek to recover the value of any 

award made as a result of that application. The award will be removed from the 

relevant counci l tax account and any resulting balance will be subject to the normal 

methods of collection and recovery applicable to such accounts. 

4.16 Fraud 

The Council is committed to the fight against fraud in all its forms. Any applicant who 
tries to fraudulently claim a Section 13A discount might have committed an offence 

under the Fraud Act 2006. 

If the Council suspects that fraud may have occurred, the matter will be investigated 
as appropriate and this could lead to criminal proceedings. 

5 Local Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers Scheme 

5.1 A care leaver is defined as a young person aged 18-25 who was formerly a child in 

the care of Derbyshire County Council and who then became a ‘care leaver’ as 
described in The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 and becomes liable for Council 
Tax on a dwelling in the High Peak Borough Council area. 

 
5.2 Applications may be made by the care leaver or by the Leaving Care Team, or 

equivalent, for and on behalf of the care leaver previously registered with a local 
authority in the financial year immediately preceding their 18th birthday. Applications 

Page 113



March 2023 

 

 

may be backdated to 1st April in the year of application if the 18th birthday fell in the 

previous year. 
 
 

 

5.3  Council Tax discount will be awarded on the main residence of the care leaver up 
until the day preceding their 25th birthday, as follows 
 

- Sole occupation by a care leaver of 100% of residual balance of Council Tax 

payable after the award of any other discount or exemption 

 

- Where a care leaver is jointly liable a proportionate award will be made 

according to their individual circumstances, e.g. if there’s one other occupier 

then a 50% discount will apply. 

 

- Where the care leaver is not liable for Council Tax, no discount will apply. 

 

5.4 Discounts will be subject to annual review of eligibility which will include financial 
circumstances. The Scheme may be varied or terminated on 12 months’ notice on a 

decision by the Council. 
 
 

5.5 The Local Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers Scheme will only be applied after 
all other relevant discounts and exemptions have been applied. Where the qualifying 

criteria is met and all discounts and exemptions, including LCTS, do not cover the full 
Council Tax charge, then under this scheme the qualifying care leaver will receive 
further assistance to cover 100% of their council tax charge. 
 

 

6 Policy Update 

This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis, and where changes are required, 

those changes will be presented for formal approval 

7    Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

The Council provides a Local Council Tax Support (Reduction) (LCTS) Scheme in 

accordance with section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

Approval for a new banding scheme was approved at Full Council on 22nd February 

2023 and will be introduced from 1st April 2023. The full details around this scheme 
are contained in a separate document. 

 
8 Council Tax Support Fund 

 
8.1 Recognising the impact of rising bills, the Government will be distributing £100m of 

new grant funding in 2023-24 for local authorities to support economically vulnerable 
households in their area with council tax payments. 

 

Page 114



March 2023 

 

 

8.2 Funding will be allocated to councils based on their share of local council tax support 

claimants according to the latest data. The Government expects local authorities to 
use the majority of their funding allocations to reduce bills for current working age 

and pension age Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) claimants by up to £25. Councils 
can use their remaining allocation as they see fit to support vulnerable households 
with council tax bills. Where a taxpayer’s liability for 2023-24 is, following the 

application of council tax support, less than £25, then their liability would be reduced 
to nil. Where a taxpayer’s liability for 2023-24 is nil, no reduction to the council tax bill 

will be available and those bills should not be credited. 
 

8.3 The discount should apply to current LCTS claimants that have an outstanding 
council tax liability for the 2023-24 financial year. Government expects councils to 

deliver this using their discretionary powers under s13A(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 

 

 The Councils policy is to award an amount of up to £25 off the annual bill for 
2023/24 and to use the remainder of the funding to consider top up’s during the 

financial year and to ring fence funding for new claimants. 
 
 

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Corporate Select Committee 
 

20 March 2023 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Annual Health and Safety report 2021-22 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Alan Barrow – Executive 
Councillor - Corporate Services and Finance 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

David G Owen – Corporate Health and Safety 
Manager 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
 

Appendices Attached 

Appendix A - Annual Health and Safety Report 2021-22 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

                    1.1  The annual health and safety report as attached is to update Councillors of the 

key aspects of health and safety which occurred across the two Councils 
during the period from April 2021 to March 2022.  

 

1.2 The annual report also provides, detail on training information, emerging risks, 
and supporting statistical information as shown in the appendices.  

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Corporate Select Committee notes the 2021/22 
Annual Health and Safety Report. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The Council and its strategic partner Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  

recognise their obligations under health and safety legislation and have 
declared their commitment to improving the health, safety, and welfare of their 
employees, as detailed in the corporate health and safety policy, and 

accompanying policies and procedures. 
 

3.2 The annual health and safety report as attached is to update councillors of the 
key aspects of health and safety which occurred across the two councils 
during the period from April 2021 to March 2022. This annual report is the 

Page 117

Agenda Item 9



  

fourteenth such report for the two Councils making up the Alliance. 
 
3.3 Over the last fourteen years a significant effort has gone into strengthening the 

Council’s position in relation to health and safety management. This has been 
a process of gradually tightening up on our policies and procedures and 

ensuring that these remain relevant and up to date.  
 
3.4 The detail of such actions are provided in the report. The annual report also 

provides, detail on health and safety training, emerging risks, and supporting 
statistical information as shown in the appendices.  

 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 Good health and safety arrangements are fundamental to meeting all the 4 

corporate aims. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 There are no options to consider. 
.  
 

 
Andrew P Stokes 
Chief Executive 

 
 

Web Links and Background Papers 
Appendix A - attached 

Contact details 
David G Owen 
david.owen@highpeak.gov.uk 

  

 
 

 
 

 

Page 118



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 

 
 
 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

                    
 

Corporate Annual 

Health and Safety Report 

 

Financial Year 

2021/22 

Page 119



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 2 

CONTENTS 

 
1. Summary 
 
2. Corporate commitment to health and safety 

 
3. Provision of competent health and safety advice and support 

 
4. Systems in place to identify and assess risks to the organisation 

 

5.  Monitoring of contractors 

 

6.  Consultative arrangements 

 

7.  Corporate health and safety training 

 

8.  Proactive health and safety monitoring 

 

9.  Reactive health and safety monitoring 

 

10. Progress against the action plan for 2021/22 

 

11. Proposed plans and targets for 2022/23 

 

12. Significant and emerging risks 

 

13. Conclusion 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 120



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 3 

1.0 Summary 
 
Reviewing performance is an important part of health and safety management as it enables an 
organisation to learn from all relevant experience and apply the lessons. It is based on a systematic 

review of performance based on data from monitoring and audits of the whole health and safety 
management system.  
 
Managing for health and safety (HSG65) a national standard for health and safety management, 
explains the plan, do, check, act approach and shows how it can help organisations like ours to 
achieve a balance between the systems and behavioural aspects of management. It also treats health 
and safety management as an integral part of good management generally, rather than as a stand -
alone system. 
 
 

 
 
 
In adopting this model, we ensure policies; procedures and systems are in place to meet the 

requirements of current legislation and best practice.  Principal areas of work include an ongoing 
review of the safety management systems to ensure they are robust in light of legislation regarding 
corporate manslaughter and recommendations promoted by the Institute of Directors and Health and 
Safety Executive guidance ‘Leading Health & Safety at Work’ 2013.  
 
Over the last fourteen years we have been working to strengthen the Council’s position in relation to 
health and safety management. This has been a process of gradually tightening up on our policies 
and procedures and ensuring that these remain relevant and up to date.  
 
We now have improved systems for carrying out risk assessments and making sure that they are 
regularly reviewed; for tracking high risk lone workers; workstation assessments and for many other 

aspects of a good health and safety management system. The system remains live and continues to 
undergo a process of continuous improvement and review.  
 
As noted in the body of this report, considerable work has taken place to ensure we remain ‘leading 
edge’ Councils from a health and safety perspective. 
 

Page 121



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 4 

 
 
Our ongoing emphasis is on a sensible, risk-based approach, building health and safety into our 
normal way of working rather than regarding it as an ‘add on’ to ensure that we get it right and keep it 
that way.  
 
The activities of the health and safety function have been previously subjected to a review by internal 
audit. Our arrangements have also been previously reviewed by Zurich our insurers who have 

categorised our approach to health and safety as good to best practice.   
 
This report refers to key aspects of health and safety that occurred across High Peak Borough 
Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council. The report covers the period from the beginning 
of April 2021 to the end of March 2022.  
 
The report also provides supporting statistical information in the appendices.  
 

 

2. Corporate commitment to health and safety 

 
Both Councils recognise their obligations under health and safety legislation and have declared their 
commitment to improving the health, safety and welfare of their employees and others within the 
corporate health and safety policy and supporting documentation. 
 
Parts of the electronic health and safety portfolio have been reviewed during 2021-22. These reviews 

have taken account of changes in legislation, and changes in job titles, the policies that have been 
reviewed can be found in the body of this report. 
 
Operational risk assessments must be continually reviewed to respond to the challenges brought 
about by the Coronavirus Pandemic, once reviewed these have been shared with staff and the 
Trades Unions. A risk assessment challenge took place during this financial year, during which Heads 
of Service and others, reviewed their operational risk assessments.  
 
All changes as above have been endorsed by the Alliance Leadership Team, and Corporate Health 
and Safety Compliance Group. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 122



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 5 

  

3. Provision of competent health and safety advice and support 
 
The corporate health and safety function comprises of one post – being the full time 37-hour post held 

by the Corporate Health and Safety Adviser, who manages the function. He is a Registered Safety 
Practitioner and Chartered Member of the Institute of Occupational Safety and Health and is a 
Graduate Member of the Institute of Fire Engineers.  
 
The post holder is the ‘competent person’ as defined in the Management  of Health and Safety at 
Work Regulations 1999.Regulation 7. He also leads on fire safety, emergency planning and business 
continuity planning across the two councils.  
 
He oversees the operation of the policy and safety management system on behalf of the Chief 
Executive, and reports directly to him, they meet regularly. 

 
When the Chief Executive is on leave, he reports to the Deputy Chief Executive.  
 
He plays a vital role overseeing and promoting good health and safety management, ensuring 
accountability, and reviewing the way things are done. All actions are aimed at encouraging a positive 
safety culture within the Council, and that the function is seen as a tool to ensure goals are achieved 
and projects succeed, rather than being used as a restrictive one.  
 
One of the key roles this year was to provide support and guidance to acting Heads of Service and 
others to assist them with understanding and then undertaking their duties and responsibilities in 

managing health and safety within their respective teams and to offer support and advice in respect of 
the Coronavirus Pandemic.  
 
Some of the support provided includes: 

 

 
 

4. Systems in place to identify and assess risks 

 
New or significant changes in policy are agreed by the Alliance Leadership Team, the Trades Unions 
and the Corporate Health and Safety Compliance Group. 
 
The cornerstone of health and safety is risk assessment. The risk assessment process is embedded 
within the Electronic Safety Management System and training is provided as required to ensure 
competent persons are available to undertake appropriate risk assessments. 
 
The Chief Executive and Heads of Service are nominated ‘Safety Champions’ across the two 

councils. This role includes being responsible for the general co-ordination, implementation and 
monitoring of the health and safety policy and performance within their respective service areas.   
 
The introduction of ‘safety champions’ ensures that health and safety issues are considered for all 
major projects at the concept stage, where interaction is essential to maintain standards without 
incurring additional costs and ensure ownership of health and safety at service area level.  
 
The Chief Executive chairs the Corporate Health and Safety Compliance Group. 
  

Advising on 
safety 

training  
Home Visits 

Inspections 

and Audits 

Bespoke 

Training 
Advice 

Assistance 
Accident & 
incidents. 

Overview Policy 
& Guidance 

Development 

Page 123



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 6 

5. Monitoring of contractors 
 
The pre-qualification questionnaire (PQQ) assessments for health and safety are carried out by the 
Corporate Health and Safety Adviser. Other staff are involved in assessing quality, finance, and other 

elements of this proactive process. This approach rigorously assesses suitability of prospective 
contractors wanting to work for the Council. 
 
Unannounced health and safety inspections and performance audits take place to ensure the 
activities of our contractors are regularly monitored. Issues of non compliance are brought to the 
attention of the procurement/contract monitoring officer for rectification. With major contracts, regular 
progress meetings take place where health and safety is a standing agenda item.  
 
On occasions where contractors are found to be working in a non-complaint way, meetings are set up 
to offer advice and guidance to ensure health and safety standards are improved. Where there are 

cases of repeated non-compliance, following our ‘lessons learned’ review, contractors are not invited 
to tender for works until they can demonstrate significant improvements have taken place.  
 
On larger construction projects where the full application of the CDM (Construction Design and 
Management Regulations 2015 applies; additional monitoring of contracts is also carried out by 
Principal Designers and CDM Advisers who are engaged by the Assets Team.  
 
The CDM Adviser role is not a legal requirement but does offer competent advice and support to 
those overseeing major construction projects. 
 

Several site audits and inspection of contractors working for both councils have taken place this 
financial year, the details can be found later in paragraph 8.1 of this report. 
 
Most of the outcomes of the health and safety inspections and audits have been generally good. 
 
 

6. Consultative arrangements 

 
The Corporate Health and Safety Compliance Group is chaired by the Chief Executive and includes 
representatives from all medium to high-risk areas across the two councils, trades union safety 
representatives.  
 
Microsoft teams facilities are used during these meetings to reduce mileage and officer time.   
 
The group has worked so far within the spirit of co-operation with consultation taking place on several 
key subjects including: 

 

 Outcomes of planned health and safety inspections, internal and external 

 Fire risk assessment findings, required actions, required improvements, funding 

 Discussion and approval of revisions to corporate policies such as: First Aid, Buying New 
Machinery, Construction Design and Management Regulations, Noise at Work Policy, Health and 
Safety Guidance for Contractors, and Occupational Road Risk. 

 Fire Authority Involvement at SMDC and HPBC 

 Fire Authority Audit Outcomes- HPBC Sheltered Schemes at Northlands and Cromford Court 

 Monitoring accident and near miss statistics, trends. 

 Highlighting contractor management/ compliance/performance issues  

 Vertas compliance Issues – fire safety checks, and temperature monitoring issues- audit outcomes 

 HSE site visit- contractors site Glossop Market. 

 Developing tool box talks, safety alerts and bulletins 

 Promoting health and safety across the two Councils  

 Introduction of monthly fire safety checks in general needs housing accommodation  

 COVID-19- arrangement for agile working, provision of supporting documentation  

 Manual handling of white goods- Housing Estate Caretakers 

 Discuss the findings of an inspection of the Cunningdale allotment site in Fairfield  

Page 124



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 7 

 Implications of the Social Housing White Paper, and the introduction of the Fire Safety Act 2021 

 Discussions relating to events taking place across the two Councils. 

 Discussing mental health and well-being initiatives. 
 
Four meetings are planned for the year 2022/23 coinciding with the Emergency Planning Compliance 
Group. 
 
 

7. Corporate health and safety training 

 
Each year the Corporate Health and Safety Adviser organises, develops, and delivers several health 

and safety and emergency planning training courses. The courses are run throughout the year and 
are available to all staff.  
 
Staff training is provided in line risk and in accordance with the Council’s health and safety training 
matrix, to ensure our staff have the necessary skills and knowledge to fulfil their roles. 
 
Some training is provided ‘on line’ In this way training is given at a time convenient for the person 
being trained and gives us evidence that confirms those receiving the training have read and 
understood it. This method of training reduces the resources required to deliver these courses and the 
time employees are away from their duties and provides evidence that the training has taken place. 

 
In some cases, face to face training, such as for the health and safety awareness, and asbestos 
awareness courses will always be the preferred training delivery. Some face-to-face training did take 
place during this financial year once the COVID restrictions were lifted. 
 
As will be appreciated, many of the courses have focused on the various aspects of the COVID-19 
Pandemic and have ensured our staff are aware of changes and what is expected of them.  Similarly, 
as 90% of our staff have been agile working at home, training was given that ensured staff were safe 
whilst doing so. 
 
Several specific health and safety courses and 2 civil protection courses were delivered throughout 

the year with 1490 training places provided and taken.  
 
The courses provided included, fire safety, fire extinguisher use training, asbestos awareness, 
occupational health, CDM awareness, DSE Guidance, needlestick retrieval, combatting work related 
stress, and safe working at home.  

   

8. Proactive health and safety monitoring 

 

8.1 Audits  

 
Health and safety audits are undertaken to identify, monitor and eradicate any potential risks 
associated with unsuitable equipment and/or procedures, and ensure compliance.  
 
6 compliance audits took place of contractors working for us namely, Hankinson’s PLC working on 
fascias and soffit boards in HPBC area, Jackson and Jackson Ltd carrying out property rendering 
works in the HPBC area, and Messenger PLC who have been carrying out refurbishment works at 
Glossop Municipal buildings. 
 
Derbyshire County Council-Vertas were also audited as we had experienced issues of non 
compliance with Vertas and a risk assessment audit/challenge took place inhouse. An audit of the 

HPBC Carelink function highlighted some training needs, the overall outcomes were good. 
 
The outcomes of the DCC-Vertas compliance audit were good with improvements seen in 
documentation control and statutory compliance. The compliance audit of Jackson and Jackson was 
disappointing and has since resulted in a change of site agent. 

Page 125



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 8 

 
The reports are shared with the Alliance Leadership Team and are discussed at the Risk 
Management Group and the Corporate Health and Safety Compliance Group meetings 
 

8.2 Inspections 

 
The purpose of workplace inspections is to proactively identify any safety issues that require remedial 
action.  
 
Whilst the programme of inspections has been disrupted due to buildings being closed and key staff 
not being able to attend, I have managed to pull back some of the delayed inspections and have 
carried out 56 proactive health and safety inspections, and 7 inspections of contractors’ sites across 
the two councils. 
 
The frequency of these inspections has been previously agreed with the Health and Safety Executive 

and is seen as ‘about right’ for the risks involved. These inspections have highlighted areas where 
improvements have been made and conversely highlight improvements to be made. This enables the 
two councils to manage, limit, and where possible, offset their potential for liab ility. 
 
The regime of planned inspections includes all corporate buildings, leisure centres and swimming 
pools; this coupled with site visits that highlight that our partners are working in accordance with 
industry standards. Where issues of non-compliance have been highlighted subsequent meetings 
have taken place with those contractors to prioritise the actions required. Issues of non -compliance 
are also brought to the attention of our service partners at their operational meetings.  
 
In addition to the corporate regime of health and safety inspections, a new regime of health and safety 

inspections was introduced in 2016 in the sheltered schemes at High Peak Borough Council , and in 
the parking areas of all Leisure Centres. 22 inspections now take place a year.  
 
All staff carrying out these inspections have been trained, and this process works very well. 
 
 
Closed Churchyards 
 
In addition to the detail above 9 health and safety inspections of closed churchyards in the High Peak 
and Staffordshire Moorlands areas took place to support the Cemeteries Officer. 

 
Once a Church of England Churchyard closes for burials, the liability and maintenance of them 
passes on to the Council under the 1972 Local Government Act.  
 
A significant amount of work will be required to address many of the items raised, however it is hoped 
that in partnership with the Parochial Church Councils’ closed churchyards can be effectively 
managed, and the significant risks, reduced, managed, or addressed.  
 
 

9. Reactive health and safety monitoring 

 

9.1 Accident and assault statistics 

 
All accidents resulting in lost time 7 days or more that occurred across the two councils were 
investigated and corrective and preventative measures put in place as required. These are reported to 
the Health and Safety Executive in accordance with the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and 
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations. 
 
A summary of accident information and accident category type is attached in the appendices at the 
end of this report. 
 

Page 126



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 9 

There were two accidents to staff based or working for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, one 
was a lost time accident. 
 
 

 Alliance accidents 

  
(HSE) RIDDOR Reportable-LTA 2 

Non - (HSE) RIDDOR Reportable 7 

Threats/Near Misses 9 

  
TOTAL  18 

 

Accident to Members of the Public 

 
There have been 6 accidents involving members of the public on sites for which the Council are 
responsible. 4 of these resulted in minor injuries resulting in first aid , 3 were in locations managed by 
High Peak Borough Council and 1 at Biddulph Country Park, which we were alerted to by the Health 
and Safety Executive.  
 
One accident was reported to the Health and Safety Executive as the injured person fell fracturing her 
wrist and was taken directly to hospital from the Pavilion Gardens. There was no suggestion of any 

fault on the part of the Council, the IP fell backwards whilst reading an information board.  
 
The other alleged accident was investigated, and the veracity of this alleged accident was questioned 
from the outset. The alleged injured person changed the location of her fall, in Buxton when 
challenged. No further communication has been received in respect of this matter.  
 

Lost Time Accidents   

 
 

Service Area Lost days Injury 

   Development Services 
 
Housing Repairs Team 
 

165 
 
8 
 

Slip, trip, and fall-developers site 
 
Manual handling and lifting-kitchen fitting 
 

   Total days lost 173  

 
The fact that 85 % of staff have worked at home this financial year has impacted positively on our 
accident statistics.  
 
Therefore, the accident statistics for this year and the previous year should not be seen as 
representative years for the reasons stated in this report and last years. 

 
 

9.2 Enforcement notices, Fee for Intervention costs 

 
Our relationship with the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and two Fire Authorities continued to be 
good in 2021-22, with no enforcement action or intervention from them. 

Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service carried out three fire safety audits of three of the Sheltered 
Schemes in High Peak.  

The outcomes of all three fire safety audits were all good, and they supported our plans to upgrade 
the fire alarm systems and CCTV coverage in all three of the locations inspected. 

Page 127



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 10 

Derbyshire Fire Safety Team also supported High Peak Borough Council following three arson 
attempts at Marian Court, sheltered scheme at Heath Grove, Buxton. 

9.3 Dangerous Occurrences - Diseases 

 
There were no dangerous occurrences reported during the period  2021-2022.   
 

9.4 Achievement awards 

 
The Council has not actively pursued any external achievement awards during 2021-22. 
 
  

10. Actions undertaken during 2021/22 

 

Actions Status 

  1. Carried out an inspection of Northlands, Hartington Gardens and Queens 
Court 

Achieved 

2. Carried out Fire Risk Assessments in all corporate buildings and two 
Sheltered Schemes 

Achieved 

3.  
Carried out accident investigations for all over 7-day accidents 
 

 
Achieved 

4. Maintain the regime of planned health and safety inspections  
 

Achieved 
 

5. Carry out risk assessment training. 
 

Not Achieved 

6. Developed at least 6 Tool Box Talks -Safety Alerts 
 

Achieved 

7. Carried out unannounced site inspections of contractors 
 

Achieved 

8.  
Provided fire risk assessment training for the Housing Team 
 

Not achieved, due 
to staff recruitment  

9. Provided fire extinguisher use training as required. 
 

Achieved 

10. Carried out an inspection audit of CDM compliance. 
 

Achieved 

11.     Carried out refresher workplace inspection training for Scheme Officers 
 
 

Not achieved, due 
to staff recruitment 
  

issues 
12.     Updated guidance in regard of COVID-19 in line with national guidance  

Achieved  

13 Reviewed First Aid, and Noise Policies Achieved 

14. Reviewed the CDM and Musculoskeletal Policies Achieved 

15 Carried out 4 health and safety performance audits Achieved more 

16 Followed up complex ergonomic DSE Self Assessments for agile workers Achieved 

17 Carried out Asbestos in Depth training for the Housing Repairs Team and 
Caretakers 
 

Achieved 

18 Carried out a health and safety compliance audit of the ‘Carelink’ service   
 

Achieved 

Page 128



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 11 

Other additional key actions  

 

 Carried out arson risk assessments for 5 vacant Council buildings. 

 Undertook health and safety consultation work for New Mills and Biddulph Town Councils. 

 Developed a fire safety checklist for general needs accommodation units 

 Gave advice on asbestos in Allotments at Cunningdale, Fairfield 

 Provided advice on the new Agile Worker Policy 

 Provided advice on the implications of the Social Housing White Paper and Fire Safety Act 2021  

 Attended or accessed 14 meetings relating to COVID. 

 Collected PPE for funeral directors as part of the COVID response 

 Advised the Reinstating of Services Recovery-Sub Group 

 Made dally COVID Situation Reports to the Staffordshire Resilience Forum. 

 Reviewed the Alliance Business continuity plan and established the priority meanings 

 Updated the fire risk assessment format used in communal areas of Housing blocks.  

 Led the Councils out of hours responses to 22 incidents, storms, Eunice, Franklin, and Arwen. 

 Liaised with communities at Alstonefield and Warslow following the storms and power outages  

 Assisted with the review of the commercial tenant’s handbook. 

 Gave fire safety and asbestos guidance for inclusion in a newsletter for HPBC Tenants. 

 Carried out health and safety inspections of the HPBC- Housing Repairs Team 

 Completed 10 health and safety assessments PQQ. 

 Developed a COVID-19 Return to the Workplace presentation 

 Provided guidance on the demolition of Market Street Depot 

 Developed manual handling risk assessments for the Housing Repairs Team 

 Advised on the suitability of the Stairbuddy 170 stair lifter 

 Carried out 4 Water Risk Assessments in line with the Derbyshire Water partnership objectives 

 Advised on the requirement for a cable location device and training.  

 Provided fire safety training for Biddulph Town Council 

 Provided fire safety training for volunteer groups 

 Carried out 5 home visits following the receipt of concerns highlighted in DSE Assessments.  

 Advised on the revisions to the Operation Bridge plans. 

 Reviewed the SMDC -Rest Centre Managers ‘handbook 

 Responded to two Councillor and 5 residents’ complaints 

 Provided advice and training in respect of the asbestos incident at the Pavilion Gardens.  

 
 

11. Plans and targets for 2022/23 
 

 Carry out an inspection of Cromford Court and Eccles Fold.  

 Carry out Fire Risk Assessments in all Corporate buildings, and Eccles Fold and Cromford Court. 

 Carry out accident investigations over 7-day accidents 

 Maintain a regime of planned Health and Safety Inspections 

 Develop at least 6 Tool Box Talks -Safety Alerts- News from the Court Briefings 

 Reduce accidents to less than <20 and reducing RIDDOR reportable to 0. 

 Carry out 5 health and safety inspections of general needs housing units.  

 Review the Arson Fire risk assessments (4) until properties are sold. 

 Carry out unannounced site inspections- contractors  

 Carry out fire risk assessment training for the Housing Team 

 Provide fire extinguisher training as required 

 Carry out refresher workplace inspection training for Scheme Coordinators 

 Review the Fire Safety Policy- in the wake of the Fire Safety Act 2021 

 Review the Lone Worker Policy, response arrangements, once agreed. 

 Follow up complex ergonomic DSE-Self Assessments as required 

 Develop and deliver a Health and Safety Training Package for Carelink/Housekeeping staff 

 Deliver health and safety inspection training for Parkwood staff carrying out inspections on our 
behalf. 

 Carry out 6 water safety risk assessments, in line with the Derbyshire Water Safety Initiative 

Page 129



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 12 

 Carry out 2 Health and Safety Performance Audits - AES/Buxton Opera House-HPTT. 

 Carry out an audit to ensure fire risk assessments have been carried out in communal areas of 
housing blocks 

 Carry out Inspection audit of CDM compliance- Fairfield Roundabout Scheme. 
 

12. Significant and emerging risks 
 

Significant risks within the Council 

 
Due to the diverse work of the Council, a variety of risks are present.  
 

Manual handling and lifting 

 
A robust manual handling and lifting policy is in place, and manual handling training has been given to 
high-risk worker groups which includes the Housing Repairs Team and the Estate Caretakers.   
 
A new risk assessment format for manual handling was introduced in 2018 following changes at 

national level, promoted by the HSE Health and Safety Executive. 
 
Our approach to manual handling is as follows. 
 

 Avoid hazardous manual handling operations ‘so far as is reasonably practicable’, by redesigning 
the task to avoid moving the load or by automating or mechanising the process.  

 

 Make a suitable and sufficient assessment of the risk of injury from any hazardous manual 
handling operations that cannot be avoided. 

 

 Reduce the risk of injury from those operations so far as is reasonably practicable, by breaking 
loads into manageable pieces or sharing the load. Where possible, provide mechanical 

assistance, for example, a sack trolley or hoist.  
 

 Where this is not reasonably practicable, then explore changes to the task, the load, and the 
working environment. 

 
Once the Housing Repairs Team transfer into the new joint venture- Alliance Norse, manual handling 
risks across the two Councils will be significantly reduced. 
 

Hand Arm Vibration 

 
A robust policy is in place which was scrutinized by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) during 
2018. 
 
This encourages the purchase of low vibration equipment and promotes job rotation to reduce 

adverse medical effects. Those worker groups at high risk have received training  during 2019 and 21 
additional vibration assessments were carried out to ensure our equipment is safe to use, and staff 
know how to report vibration ill health conditions.  
 
Trigger on time monitoring has taken place; this information is used in association with the vibration 
readings to determine the time a person uses a piece of equipment and ensures the exposure action 
levels are not breached. 
 
Our vibration emitting equipment is regularly serviced, and is colour coded this relates to the vibration 
levels taken. Those using the equipment fully understand what the colour coding means.  
 

Our Hand Arm Vibration Syndrome (HAVS) Matrix was last updated in 2019. This gives guidance to 
our employees on safe use of vibration emitting equipment, and time restrictions.   
 

Page 130



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 13 

In addition to these proactive actions, those at risk, from vibration induced injury, are regularly 
assessed by our Occupational Health provider, which alerts us to early symptoms and any required 
changes. 
 
Once the Housing Repairs Team transfer into the new joint venture- Alliance Norse, the risk of hand 
arm vibration risk is significantly reduced. 
 

Asbestos 

 
Our corporate policy on the management of asbestos details the arrangements for managing 
asbestos. Individual responsibilities are allocated within the policy. 
 

As asbestos in many forms is prevalent in many Council buildings and our housing stock, we must 
ensure that the asbestos is risk assessed surveys are provided and management carries out annual 
inspections where this is required. This is to ensure that the asbestos stock remains safe and is well 
managed. Surveys are also carried out in communal areas of sheltered schemes and dome stic 
properties where construction work is carried out. 
 
At present, Derbyshire County Council (DCC) supports us in arranging the management surveys on 
corporate buildings and carrying out the recorded annual ‘management’ inspections. SGS currently 
provide surveys for the housing elements of HPBC.  
 

To further enforce the principles of the policy which includes a permit to work system, additional  
training has taken place during 2020 so key staff are aware of their specific responsibilities. New 
surveys are developed where intrusive works take place, and as a result the ‘management surveys’ 
are updated to capture all the information from the intrusive survey. 
 
Several new asbestos ‘management surveys’ were provided during 2021-22. 
 
An asbestos register, which holds all the asbestos surveys across the Council corporate and housing 
stock, is being developed by the Head of Assets. A new software package will, once fully 
implemented will assist in ensuring the required documentation is available for use.  
 

To strengthen the competency levels within the Assets Team, one officer has recently attended the 
nationally recognised P405: The Management of Asbestos in Buildings course, and following a 
significant ‘near miss’ incident at the Pavilion Gardens, Buxton, all the Assets Team and colleagues 
from the Housing Repairs Team and Parkwood have undergone an In-Depth Asbestos Awareness 
Training Session.  
 
Key staff now have the practical knowledge and skills to manage asbestos in buildings and have a 
sound knowledge base to audit asbestos removal projects. 
 
The management of asbestos across the two Councils is managed by the Assets Team currently 

supported by Derbyshire County Council and competent contractors.  
 
Competent support in this area will form part of the new joint venture from July 2022 with Alliance 
Norse.  

Legionella 

 
Our corporate policy on the management of Legionella was updated and issued in 20 21 to reflect 
changes to the ‘Responsible Person’ role and changes in the senior management structure.  
 
Given that there is a risk of Legionella developing in our water systems, we must ensure that the risk 

of Legionella is assessed, and management (through our contractors) carry out annual inspections, 
temperature readings, and treatment and replacement of systems as required. DCC and other 
contractors now carry out all monitoring for us through their preferred contractors - DCC uses their 
agent Hydro X to carry out this work.  
 

Page 131



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 14 

The DCC property services team and S3 Compliance (for non-corporate properties) carry out regular 
monitoring to ensure full compliance with the policy. Surveys and risk assessments are reviewed 
regularly, and temperature monitoring is carried out monthly by trained persons.  
 
Considerable work was also undertaken, and is continuing, in areas such as asbestos management 
and Legionella management. The regular inspection regime and follow up audits, along with the 
development of an Asset Management Plan, are assisting us in progressing with the required 
improvements in these areas. This has been an important step towards minimising the risks posed by 

these health hazards. 
 
The Head of Assets and her team are overseeing this work. Those fulfilling roles as detailed within the 
policy, have recently attended external training, confirming their competency. 
 
New legionella risk assessments will be commissioned in 2022-2023 once the backlog of remedial 
works have taken place. Competent support in this area will form part of the new joint venture from 
July 2022 with Alliance Norse.  
 

Fire Safety 

 
Given the age and condition of some of the Council buildings a low to medium risk of fire exists. From 
2005 there was a legal requirement on Councils to carry out fire risk assessments and review these 
annually.  
 
This, process along with the building condition surveys, statutory testing, inspection, and staff training, 
helps us to mitigate fire risks.  
 
In 2015 the fire safety policy was again updated and a new fire risk assessment pro forma introduced , 
following changes raised in the Grenfell Tower Inquiry and subsequent introduction of the Fire Safety 
Act during 2022, our Fire Safety Policy will be updated to reflect any changes brought about by the 

act.  
 
All our sheltered schemes (High Peak Borough Council), and all our corporate buildings and 
communal areas of flats, have a detailed fire risk assessment these are reviewed regularly. For 
corporate buildings Derbyshire County Council is working through the various action plans and 
prioritising the actions required, for others the Assets Team are actioning these on a risk basis. 
 
Employees are provided with regular fire safety training; In 2018 I developed a new online training 
package; this assists us in meeting our training obligations without causing significant disruption to 
operational activities by staff being taken away from their duties for training.  

 
274 employees have received ‘fire safety on line’ training over the last 12 months. 
 
In the Sheltered Schemes, ‘fire safety in the home’ talks have taken place, to raise awareness 
amongst our tenants. This training has been provided in association with the Fire Safety Team at 
Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service. 
 
The ‘Stay Put Policy’ documents in place at the Sheltered Schemes are now titled ‘Stay Put/Defend in 
Place’ Policies to avoid confusion. 
 

Following the outcomes of the fire risk assessments some further fire safety improvements are 
required in the Sheltered Schemes. These improvements relate to the upgrading of fire alarm 
systems, and the need to upgrade cold smoke seals and fire doors.  
 
It is anticipated that the fire alarm improvements will commence in summer 2022, at Cromford Court, 
Whaley Bridge, Eccles Fold, Chapel en le Frith, and Marian Court, Buxton.  
 
A common theme across our corporate buildings and partner buildings relates to; old fire detection 
systems requiring replacement, or an increased regime of servicing, a need to introduce recorded 

Page 132



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 15 

inspections of fire doors, upgrade fire doors, and improve fire spread generally by improving 
compartmentation. 
 
We liaise regularly with both Fire and Rescue Services, this approach has led to a positive working 
arrangement, with no advisory letters or enforcement issues.  
 
During this financial year there have not been any fires in any of our corporate buildings.  
 

Domestic Housing property fires 

 
 
During this financial year, there have been three minor fires in one of the Sheltered Schemes in 
Buxton, which was investigated by the Police. 
 

Radon 

 
Radon levels at Buxton Town Hall are currently maintained at a level below the average action level 
of 300 Becquerels. 

 
The 30-year-old radon remediation system is serviced by a specialist contractor every spring, with 
filters changed every six months. There have been no significant issues with the radon remediation 
unit this year. 
 
Ongoing radon monitoring will be carried out throughout the year to monitor radon trends. 
 
Previously radon levels in the Staffordshire Moorlands area have been very low, a further check of 
these will be carried out during winter 2022. 
 
Radon in corporate buildings is overseen by the author of this report, and further reports are issued as 

the results are received and remedial action is taken as is required by the external contractor. 
 
Radon in the HPBC housing stock is managed by the Assets Team supported by a competent 
contractor. 
 

Working at Heights 

 
On the HPBC side of the Alliance we have staff that regularly work at heights on scaffolds and 
accessing work from ladders. They have been recently trained in safe working at height practices 
point of work risk assessments are being developed, and other task specific risk assessments have 

been updated.  
 
Wherever possible, working at heights should be avoided. Ladder work should be strictly controlled, 
and ladders should only be used as a working platform, where it is not practicable to use other 
means. 
 
Scaffolding towers and other safer methods of working have been introduced. A 6 monthly recorded 
ladder/platform inspection takes place, and a visual inspection of the ladder/platform takes place 
before it is used. 
 

Home Working 

 
With 85% of our workforce moving to working from home following Government guidance to do so, 
the councils have had to respond appropriately to meet various challenges of a home environment.  

This has included:  

 
 Enabling staff to take furniture and ICT equipment home to enable them to work from home 

Page 133



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 16 

 Heads of Service reviewing deadlines to potentially re-order work priorities where appropriate.  

 The development of an Agile Working Policy to offer some staff the option of continuing to part 
work from home utilise homeworking where appropriate. 

 Supporting staff to work safely at home, enabling them to work their hours around home 
demands where possible.  

The Councils responded to employees working from home by seeking to stabilise home working 
environments in support of musculoskeletal health.  

This was achieved by producing a revised homeworkers checklist for staff, tool box talks, safe 
systems of work and several home visits. 

Employee Well Being 

 
The Councils are committed to improving and sustaining the health and wellbeing o f its employees, 
through supporting a healthy and productive workforce that is highly engaged with the overall 

objectives of the Council.  
 
We do this by placing importance on preventative health initiatives, providing tools and support to 
encourage people to stay fit, happy, and healthy.  

 
An innovation to assist staff in staying fit and healthy is a walking scheme promoted by the Service 
Commissioning Team in 2021. 

 
Flu Vaccination  

 
During last winter, 95 employees had free flu vaccinations arranged by the Council.  

 
Musculoskeletal  

 
We continue to recognise that musculoskeletal problems can be a reason for sickness. We continue 
to encourage staff to complete the new self DSE assessment process and seek professional support 
where issues of concern are highlighted. 4 ergonomic home visits took place, and 5 other personal 
risk assessments were developed during the last financial year to ensure staff are not a risk from 
musculoskeletal and other problems.  
 
4 staff were referred to Occupational Health and as a result, reasonable adjustments were put in 
place.  

 
Mental Health and Wellbeing 

 
The Councils recognise that mental ill-health is a health and safety issue for both Heads of Service, 
and employees; it acknowledges the importance of identifying and reducing work place stressors 
where possible.  
 
A mental health awareness session took place in September 2019 and subsequent training has 
recently been provided for staff who are our ‘mental health first aiders.  

 
The purpose of this role is threefold, being able to recognise the early signs and symptoms of 
common workplace mental health illnesses, having the necessary skills to have a supportive, non -
judgmental conversation with those who need it, and possessing the knowledge and confidence to 
guide colleagues to the appropriate professional support if they require it.  
 
For those staff agile working, we have maintained a regular dialogue with staff through tool box talks 
and the ‘Keeping you Informed electronic newsletter , and the Monthly Team Briefings’ who may have 
been affected by home working, and potential mental health concerns, issuing guidance on where to 
find help and support. 

 
Occupational Heath support 

Page 134



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 17 

 

The external Occupational Health provider has continued to meet the organisation’s requirements for  
dealing with and promoting health at work issues.  

 
The core functions of Occupational Health are work-health assessment screening, sickness absence 
management and health promotion.  The Occupational Health service also provides a proactive 
health surveillance programme.  
 
This is based on health surveillance checks, consisting of hand-arm vibration, audiometry, vision 
screening and in some cases a general life-style check. 
 

Coronavirus 

 
  

During this financial year and the previous year, the Councils had to rapidly respond to a constantly 
changing situation.  
 
Practically overnight, this affected the health and safety work programme and priorities and saw the 
immediate suspension of planned audits, inspections and training, the work of other teams was 
heavily impacted upon too.  
 

There was a need for us rapidly redeploy resources and adapt their skillsets to focus on each COVID 
related challenge as they became apparent, from creating the initial COVID Secure risk assessments 
through to translating a myriad of government advice, scientific studies, and sector practise.  
 
New ways of working guidance and agile homeworker learning packages were developed which 
included general homeworker safety and workstation assessment to help our employees work safely 
and comfortably.  
 
Colleagues were supported where circumstances meant that homeworking was not a suitable option 
or where their role required them to continue to work in the community 

 
Site surveys were undertaken of all our buildings to ensure that each environment was adapted to be 
COVID-19 secure, updates were shared with staff via the intranet to make sure employees knew what 
to expect if they needed to access our buildings.  

The passion and professionalism of those who work for the two Councils was evident,  the COVID 
response was a professional one involving the ALT all teams, which enabled rapid but well-informed 
decisions to be made.  
 
As this report evidences, our commitment to health and safety remains vigilant and committed to the 
control of all workplace risks, not just COVID-19 and its variants. As such we have continued to 
implement and drive improvements to ensure compliance and effective management of risks.  
 

The Council will continue to monitor the situation regarding covid secure working arrangeme nts and 
risk assessments and update guidance and working arrangements as required.  

 

13. Conclusion 
 
I am pleased to produce my fourteenth Annual Health and Safety Report for 2021-22.  
 
We have come a long way in establishing our Electronic Health and Safety Portfolio in 2009 and have 
embedded a positive safety culture across the two councils.  
  
We must continue to develop our positive safety culture, to ensure that it will be robust enough to 
positively impact on the environments in which our staff work, reducing the numbers of incidents 

within our work places and stand up to scrutiny from both external enforcing authorities and internal 
scrutiny whilst providing a sensible and cost-effective approach to managing risk. 

Page 135



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 23rd, 2022 18 

 
It is imperative that we continue to demonstrate that our staff have the skills, knowledge, training, and 
experience to fulfil their respective roles.  
 
Being able to demonstrate a commitment to health and safety, competency through effective record 
keeping is vital to any defence. We are now in a good position to be able to demonstrate we have a 
good health and safety record; however, we must not become complacent, and must remain ready to 
prepare for future changes in legislation and guidance and respond to these accordingly.  

 
The continued support and leadership of the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Executive 
Directors, Heads of Service, Managers, staff, Trades Unions and Elected Members is the key to 
driving forward health and safety standards. This in turn assists us in reducing accidents, reducing ill 
health, and improving the working environment.  
 
I believe that the best way we can show our staff that we care is to be concerned for their personal 
health, safety, and wellbeing. This has never been more important to us than throughout the 
Pandemic. Throughout the past two years we faced an unprecedented challenge to keep all our staff 
safe and healthy.  

 
It is a credit to our workforce that each challenge was responded to rapidly, enabling us to remain 
effective councils during this difficult time. We must remain committed to promoting health and safety 
and to supporting our staff to be the best they can be.  
 
I look forward to sustaining our ability to adapt and learn innovative ways to enrich the health, safety, 
and wellbeing of our staff over the coming year. 
 
 
David G Owen 
August 23rd, 2022 

 
 
  

Page 136



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 2022 1 

Appendix 1 
 

 

P
age 137



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 2022 2 

      Appendix 2   
 
 

 
                   

P
age 138



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 2022 3 

Appendix 3 
 

 
                  

P
age 139



 
DGO Annual Report 2021-2022 – August 2022 4 

Appendix 4 – Report Categories 
 
 
Accident/Incident Totals 
    
 2019/2020 2020/21 2021/22 

Total Number of Accidents/Incidents 27 18 18 

Breakdown of numbers    

Threats/Near Misses 15 11 12 

Accidents 12 3 9 

    Of those Accidents RIDDOR reportable 5 1 2 
 
 
 

Type of Accident 2019/2020 2020/21 2021/22 

    
Contact with Machinery 0 0 0 

Exposed to Dangerous Substance 1 0 0 

Fall from Height 0 0 0 

Hit by Vehicle 1 0 0 

Hit by Flying/Moving Object 1 0 0 

Hit by something Static 0 0 1 

Eye injury 0 0 1 

Manual Handling 3 0 2 

Slip/Trip/Fall 2 1 4 

Physical Assault 1 0 0 

Contact with electricity or electrical discharge 0 0 0 

Other type of accident  3 2 1 

Threat 13 0 3 

  

 
 

P
age 140



Document is Restricted

Page 141

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Select Committee Work Programme
	6 Annual Report
	High Peak Annual Report 2021-22 Final docx
	High Peak Annual Report 2021-22 less appendices
	High Peak Appendices
	HP Annual Report Appendix A 2021-22
	HP Annual Report Appendix B 2021-22
	HP Annual Report Appendix C 2021-22
	HP Annual Report Appendix D 2021-22



	7 Corporate Peer Challenge - Updated Action Plan
	Sheet1

	8 Council Tax & Business Rates Relief, Reductions & Levy Policies
	HPBC Appendix A NDR policy March 23
	HPBC Appendix B Council Tax policy March 23

	9 Annual Health and Safety Report
	H & S Appendix

	12 Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting

